
 

 

 1  
 

SUPPLEMENT DOCUMENT TO DNV AS’S TENDER OFFER DOCUMENT DATED FEBRUARY 27, 2023, 
RELATING TO THE VOLUNTARY PUBLIC TENDER OFFER FOR ALL ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING 
SHARES AND STOCK OPTIONS IN NIXU CORPORATION 

March 10, 2023  

THE TENDER OFFER IS NOT BEING MADE, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, IN OR INTO AUSTRALIA, 
CANADA, HONG KONG, JAPAN, NEW ZEALAND OR SOUTH AFRICA AND THE TENDER OFFER 
DOCUMENT AND THIS SUPPLEMENT DOCUMENT AND ANY AND ALL MATERIALS RELATED 
THERETO SHOULD NOT BE SENT IN OR INTO AUSTRALIA, CANADA, HONG KONG, JAPAN, NEW 
ZEALAND OR SOUTH AFRICA (INCLUDING BY USE OF, OR BY ANY MEANS OR INSTRUMENTALITY, 
FOR EXAMPLE, E-MAIL, POST, FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION, TELEPHONE OR INTERNET, OF 
INTERSTATE OR FOREIGN COMMERCE, OR ANY FACILITIES OF A NATIONAL SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE), AND THE TENDER OFFER CANNOT BE ACCEPTED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, OR BY 
ANY SUCH USE, MEANS OR INSTRUMENTALITY, IN OR FROM WITHIN AUSTRALIA, CANADA, HONG 
KONG, JAPAN, NEW ZEALAND OR SOUTH AFRICA.  

DNV AS (the “Offeror” or “DNV”) supplements the tender offer document dated February 27, 2023 (the “Tender Offer 
Document”), in accordance with Chapter 11, Section 11, Subsection 4 of the Finnish Securities Markets Act (746/2012, 
Fi: arvopaperimarkkinalaki) with the audited consolidated financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors as 
at and for the year ended December 31, 2022, published by Nixu on March 8, 2023 (the “Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Report of the Board of Directors”). The Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report of the 
Board of Directors is attached to this supplement document (the “Supplement Document”) and the Offeror supplements 
the Tender Offer Document with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Report of the Board of Directors, which 
are added to the Tender Offer Document as Annex D.  

The Finnish language version of the Tender Offer Document is available, and the Finnish language version of this 
Supplement Document is available as of March 10, 2023, on the internet at www.tenderoffer.fi/nixu/ and 
www.nordea.fi/nixu-ostotarjous. The English language translation of the Tender Offer Document is available, and the 
English language translation of this Supplement Document is available as of March 10, 2023, on the internet at 
www.tenderoffer.fi/en/nixu/ and www.nordea.fi/nixu-offer. 

The Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority has approved the Finnish language version of this Supplement Document but 
is not responsible for the accuracy of the information presented therein. The decision number of such approval is 
FIVA/2023/455. 

Information for Shareholders of Nixu in the United States 

The Tender Offer is made for the issued and outstanding Shares in Nixu, which is domiciled in Finland, and is subject to 
Finnish disclosure and procedural requirements. The Tender Offer is made in the United States in compliance with 
Section 14(e) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and the applicable rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder, including Regulation 14E (in each case, subject to any exemptions or relief therefrom, 
if applicable) and otherwise in accordance with the disclosure and procedural requirements of Finnish law, including with 
respect to the Tender Offer timetable, settlement procedures, withdrawal, waiver of conditions and timing of payments, 
which are different from those of the United States. In particular, the financial statements and financial information included 
in the Tender Offer Document and this Supplement Document have been prepared in accordance with applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, which may not be comparable to the 
financial statements or financial information of U.S. companies. Shareholders in the United States are advised that the 
Shares are not listed on a U.S. securities exchange and that Nixu is not subject to the periodic reporting requirements of 
the Exchange Act and is not required to, and does not, file any reports with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the “SEC”) thereunder. 

The Tender Offer is made to Nixu’s shareholders resident in the United States on the same terms and conditions as those 
made to all other shareholders of Nixu to whom an offer is made. Any information documents, including the Tender Offer 
Document and this Supplement Document, are being disseminated to U.S. shareholders on a basis comparable to the 
method that such documents are provided to Nixu’s other shareholders. 

To the extent permissible under applicable law or regulations, the Offeror and its affiliates or its brokers and its broker’s 
affiliates (acting as agents for the Offeror or its affiliates, as applicable) may from time to time and during the pendency of 
the Tender Offer, and other than pursuant to the Tender Offer and combination, directly or indirectly, purchase or arrange 
to purchase, the Shares or any securities that are convertible into, exchangeable for or exercisable for such Shares. These 
purchases may occur either in the open market at prevailing prices or in private transactions at negotiated prices. To the 
extent information about such purchases or arrangements to purchase is made public in Finland, such information will be 
disclosed by means of a stock exchange or press release or other means reasonably calculated to inform U.S. shareholders 
of Nixu of such information. In addition, the financial advisers to the Offeror may also engage in ordinary course trading 

https://www.tenderoffer.fi/nixu/
https://www.nordea.fi/nixu-ostotarjous
https://www.tenderoffer.fi/en/nixu/
https://www.nordea.fi/nixu-offer
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activities in securities of Nixu, which may include purchases or arrangements to purchase such securities. To the extent 
required in Finland, any information about such purchases will be made public in Finland in the manner required by Finnish 
law. 

Neither the SEC nor any U.S. state securities commission has approved or disapproved the Tender Offer, passed upon the 
merits or fairness of the Tender Offer, or passed any comment upon the adequacy, accuracy or completeness of the Tender 
Offer Document and this Supplement Document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United 
States. 

The receipt of cash pursuant to the Tender Offer by a U.S. holder of Shares may be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes and under applicable U.S. state and local, as well as foreign and other, tax laws. Each holder of Shares 
is urged to consult its independent professional adviser immediately regarding the tax consequences of accepting the Tender 
Offer. 

It may be difficult for Nixu’s shareholders to enforce their rights and any claims they may have arising under the 
U.S. federal securities laws since the Offeror and Nixu are located in non-U.S. jurisdictions and some or all of their 
respective officers and directors may be residents of non-U.S. jurisdictions. Nixu’s shareholders may not be able to sue the 
Offeror or Nixu or their respective officers or directors in a non-U.S. court for violations of the U.S. federal securities laws. 
It may be difficult to compel the Offeror and Nixu and their respective affiliates to subject themselves to a U.S. court’s 
judgment.
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The Board of Director´s Report

The development of Nixu Group in the 
accounting period of January 1, 2022 – 
December 31, 2022

Nixu Group’s revenue stood at EUR 60,222 (51,809) thousand. 
Revenue increased by 16% from the previous year.

Development of revenue by service type: 

•	 Projects and assignments accounted for 47% (50%) of 
the revenue, increased by 10% compared to the previous 
year.

•	 All continuous services accounted for 34% (35%) of the 
revenue and increased by 11% compared to the previous 
accounting period. All continuous services include: 

•		 Managed services, which accounted for 20% (19%) 
of revenue and increased by 19% compared to the 
previous accounting period.

•		 Continuous services accounted for a 14% (16%) share 
of the revenue and increased by 2% from the previous 
year. 

•	 Technology resale accounted for 19% (15%) of the revenue.

Other operating income stood at EUR 44 (-123) thousand.

Nixu’s EBITDA was EUR 2,409 (1,473) thousand. Improvement 
of EBITDA was obtained in the second half of the year within 
strengthened growth.

Adjusted EBITDA was EUR 2,480 (1,929) thousand. The adjust-
ment items of EUR 71 (456) thousand were related to person-
nel costs resulting from reorganization both in the current and 
comparison period. Comparison period also includes ad-
justment to COVID-19 NOW benefits support received in the 
Netherlands in 2020. 

Nixu’s EBIT was EUR 564 (-444) thousand. In addition to the 
above, EBIT was affected by depreciations amounting to EUR 
1,846 (1,917) thousand.

Financial income and expenses amounted EUR -580 (-514) 
thousand. 

The result for the year was EUR 42 (-984) thousand.

Business

Nixu provides cybersecurity services to help organizations take 
advantage of digitalization safely and securely. The compa-
ny’s mission is to keep digital society running. Nixu utilizes the 
offerings of its technology partners in the services it provides 
to customers. Nixu’s strongest market area is Northern Europe, 
although it also serves customers all across the world.  Nixu is 
headquartered in Finland and has offices in the Netherlands, 
Sweden, Denmark and Romania.

Strategy

Nixu’s growth strategy is based on its goals of being the best 
workplace for cybersecurity professionals and the trusted, go-
to partner for cybersecurity services for digitalization in North-

ern Europe. In order to achieve these goals, Nixu has focused 
on expanding its market presence and developing its commu-
nity of cybersecurity experts, cybersecurity partnerships and 
knowledge-based services.

The implementation of the strategy progressed as planned 
during 2022, and revenue growth targets were achieved. Prof-

itability also developed in the desired direction.

Financing and investments 

On December 31, 2022, Nixu Group’s balance sheet total was 
EUR 41,526 (40,710) thousand. 

The company’s cash in hand on December 31, 2022, was EUR 
3,562 (4,080) thousand. The company has two credit facilities 
of EUR 5,500 thousand altogether. The credit facility of EUR 
4,000 thousand is maturing on April 30, 2023. A total of EUR 981 
(0) thousand of the credit facilities were in use at the end of the 
accounting period on December 31, 2022.

In the next 12 months a loan of EUR 2,130 thousand is maturing.

Net liabilities on December 31, 2022, amounted to EUR 3,199 
(3,237) thousand.

Net cash flow from operating activities was EUR 631 (138) thou-
sand. Cash flow from operating activities was affected by im-
proved profitability.

Group structure

At the end of the financial year, the Group consisted of the 
following 100%-owned companies by the parent compa-
ny: Nixu Certification Oy, Nixu B.V., Nixu AB and Nixu A/S. In 
addition, the Nixu Group consisted of Nixu Cybersecurity Srl. 
owned by Nixu B.V. 96% and Nixu Oyj by 4%.Key indicators for the group

The financial period Jan 1, 2022 – Dec 31, 2022, was the company’s 34th. The 
following key figures represent the company’s financial status and its results:

EUR thousand 2022 2021 2020
Revenue 60,222 51,809 53,272
EBIT 564 -444 -702
EBIT, % of net sales 0.9% -0.9% -1.3%
Equity ratio, % 30.6% 31.5% 34.4%
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Personnel

At the end of 2022, Nixu had 393 employees (2021: 389) in Fin-
land, in the Netherlands, in Sweden, in Denmark, and in Ro-
mania. Fierce competition for skilled personnel continued and 
kept personnel turnover high throughout the industry. Nixu’s 
personnel costs totaled EUR 33.6 million (2021: EUR 31.8 million).

Sustainable development

Nixu is a responsible cybersecurity company that has a sig-
nificant positive impact on all of its stakeholders and society 
as a whole. It protects its customers’ digital functions and 
services, and actively participates in the development of in-
formation security. Nixu’s positive impact on society comes 
from services that ensure business continuity, easy access to 
digital services and data protection in a number of sectors, 
such as industry, public administration, banking and finance, 
and telecommunications. Nixu therefore has a considerable 
handprint. Yet its footprint is small, and Nixu also compensates 
for its carbon dioxide emissions on the basis of an internal es-
timate.

Nixu has defined its most material sustainability themes by 
stakeholder. The company is a reliable cybersecurity provider 
to its customers and partners, and provides the best cyberse-
curity workplace for employees. As a growth company, Nixu 
wants to create long-term value for its owners. As part of the 

community, its goal is to be involved in the development of 
cybersecurity as a thank you for the good operating condi-
tions the company enjoys. In order to promote responsible 
and sustainable development, Nixu has set goals and creat-
ed a program that is implemented by a sustainability working 
group. The implementation of this program is supervised by 
the Management Team and Board of Directors, who are ul-
timately responsible for developing the company’s business 
in an even more sustainable direction. Nixu has analyzed its 
sustainability-related risks as part of routine risk management, 
and they are presented in the Report of the Board of Direc-
tors under “Risks and uncertainties”.

Social responsibility

Nixu’s social responsibility is focused on the wellbeing, devel-
opment opportunities and fair treatment of its personnel. Nixu 
provides its personnel with varied and challenging tasks, op-
portunities to develop their skills among top professionals in 
the field, and an international work community. Wellbeing at 
work arises through meaningful tasks, a good workplace atmo-
sphere, successful leadership, and a good work-life balance.

Employee satisfaction is measured quarterly with Pulse sur-
vey. Employee satisfaction remained at a good level in 2022. 
Positive aspects highlighted by personnel in the survey includ-
ed wellbeing at work, work environment ja communication. 
Some areas for development were management and tools.

Competence development

Personnel development, furthering career paths and offering 
training opportunities play an important role in ensuring the 
wellbeing and motivation of Nixu employees. Nixu provides its 
personnel with a broad range of training and development 
opportunities. It also adheres to the international Better To-
gether approach, which supports cross-border internal coop-
eration and enables employees to get involved in a diverse 
range of assignments.

Nixu’s corporate culture encourages its personnel to share 
their expertise with the international cybersecurity commu-
nity, of which Nixu is an active member. During the review 
period, Nixu collaborated with both cybersecurity commu-
nities and educational institutions, and also organized and 
supported cybersecurity-related events. In this way, Nixu also 
promotes cybersecurity at a societal level.

Working conditions

Nixu provides a safe and healthy workplace for all of its em-
ployees, and actively implements measures to prevent 
work-related illnesses. As demanding and responsible work 
can be stressful, Nixu aims to give its employees a good work-
life balance. As part of this quest for balance, employees can 
follow a hybrid working model that harnesses both the flexibility 
of remote working and the social aspects of in-person work.

Nixu requires everyone to comply with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act and other health and safety regulations, 
and to report any potential health and safety risks. The goal is 
zero accidents. No accidents occurred at work during 2022.

Human rights and equality

Nixu respects human rights and complies with the UN’s Uni-
versal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Labor 
Organization (ILO) Declaration on Fundamental Principles 
and Rights at Work, and the OECD Guidelines for Multination-
al Enterprises. Nixu’s routine operations are guided by a Code 
of Conduct that is included in the company’s onboarding 
process. In addition to strict internal controls, Nixu has a whis-
tleblowing channel for anonymously reporting any inappro-
priate behavior.

Key figures for Personnel 

2022 2021 2020
Average number during the accounting period 392 385 399
Wages and salaries during the accounting period (EUR 1,000) 27,546 25,841 27,505
Average employment (years) 4.4 4.7 5.0
Average age (years) 40.0 40.7 41.8
Permanent employees 97% 98% 99%
Part-time employees 4% 6% 5%
Women’s share of the group’s personnel 25% 24% 21%
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Nixu offers equal opportunities to all employees, treats all per-
sonnel with respect, and allows them freedom of association. 
The company is committed to constructive and regular dia-
logue with its personnel. Nixu does not tolerate any form of in-
appropriate behavior, discrimination, harassment or bullying. 
These principles also protect those working in Nixu’s partner 
network. No violations of the aforementioned legislation, reg-
ulations or principles were reported in 2022.

Environmental responsibility

Nixu’s environmental impacts are marginal in relation to 
its operations and service provision. The energy intensity of 
Nixu’s services is also low. The company does not use natu-
ral resources to provide its services, and its operations do not 
generate much waste. The most significant environmental im-
pacts come from carbon dioxide emissions, the main sources 
of which are the energy used by rented premises, commuter 
and business-related travel, and emissions from the use and 
manufacture of equipment leased to the company.

Nixu determined its carbon dioxide emissions in 2022. Some of 
the emissions could be calculated, but other figures had to be 
estimated using a comparability analysis. Nixu compensates 
for its emissions via the Taimiteko project on the basis of its 
overall CO2 estimate. This project is creating new carbon sinks, 
while also providing employment for young people. By com-
pensating for its 230,000 kg of CO2 emissions, Nixu enabled 9 
young people to plant 981 saplings in Finland. Carbon dioxide 
emission reporting will be further developed in 2023.

Anti-corruption measures

Nixu’s business is based on fair competition, and the com-
pany has zero tolerance for corruption, bribery and money 
laundering. Nixu has not identified any particular risks related 
to corruption and bribery in its routine risk management. In 
addition to legislation, regulations and guidelines, the com-
pany’s operations are steered by a Code of Conduct. Nixu’s 
partners are also required to comply with comparable guide-
lines, even though they have not yet been required to sign 
the Code of Conduct. The target for 2023 is to extend the 
Code of Conduct to partners with the broadest possible cov-
erage.

Management
During the accounting period, Nixu’s Board of Directors con-
sisted of Jari Niska (Chairman), Marko Kauppi (Deputy Chair-
man), Kati Hagros, Anders Silwer, Kimmo Rasila until April 19, 
2022, Jaya Baloo until April 19, 2022, and a new member 
Joakim Karske as of April 19, 2022.

The Audit Committee consisted of Jari Niska, Marko Kauppi and 
Anders Silwer. Jari Niska served as a Chairman until April 19, 2022 
and after that Marko Kauppi continued as a Chairman.

In 2022, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee consist-
ed of the following members until the AGM on April 19, 2022: 
Kati Hagros (Chair), Jaya Baloo and Kimmo Rasila. As of April 

19, 2022, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee con-
sisted of the following members: Kati Hagros (Chair), Joakim 
Karske and Jari Niska.

The auditor of the company was the authorized public ac-
countants PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy. Authorized Public 
Accountant acting as the principal auditor changed on Oc-
tober 1, 2022, from APA Enel Sintonen to APA Panu Vänskä.

Members of Nixu Corporate Leadership Team during 
the accounting period: 

• Teemu Salmi, Chief Executive Officer (as of August 1, 2022) 

• Janne Kärkkäinen, Chief Financial Officer (deputy CEO) 

• Nathalie van Delden, Chief People Officer (as of March 1, 
2022) 

• Björn-Erik Karlsson, SVP Expert Services 

• Jan Mickos, SVP Managed Services 

• Valtteri Peltomäki, interim Chief Executive Officer (1 Mar, 
2022–31 Jul, 2022) and SVP Client Experience 

• Pietari Sarjakivi, SVP Labs 

• Petri Kairinen, Chief Executive Officer (until February 28, 
2022) 

• Katja Müller, Chief People Officer (until February 28, 2022)
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Shares issue decisions during the financial year: 

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to resolve on the 
repurchase of the company’s own shares in one or several 
installments as follows:

Up to 720,110 shares, shares can be repurchased using funds 
belonging to the unrestricted equity of the company. The 
proposed amount corresponds to approximately ten (10) per 
cent of all the shares in the company on the date of the no-
tice, taking the company’s own shares already held by the 
company into account.

Acquisitions under the authorization are proposed to be curry 
out on the marketplace of which rules allow the company 
to trade with its own shares. The shares shall be repurchased 
through public trading on the marketplaces where the shares 
in the company are admitted to public trading. The consider-
ation to be paid for the purchased shares shall be based on 
the market price.

The authorization entitles the board to decide on the repur-
chase of the company’s shares also other than in proportion 
to the shares owned by the shareholders (targeted repur-
chase). In this case, there must be a compelling financial rea-
son for the company to repurchase the shares.

The shares may be repurchased to implement the compa-
ny’s arrangements in relation to the company’s business 
operations, to the implementation of the company’s share-
based incentive programs or to be otherwise transferred or 
canceled. In addition, the company can repurchase shares 
from the marketplace for a Member of the Board of Direc-
tors in order to pay the remunerations of the Members of the 
Board of Directors, either in whole or in part. The repurchased 
shares can also be held by the company itself. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to resolve on all other 
conditions and matters related to the repurchase of the com-
pany’s own shares. The repurchase of the company’s own 
shares will reduce the unrestricted equity of the company.

The authorization is proposed to remain in force until the 
next AGM, however, up to June 30, 2023, whichever is the 
earliest and it would replace the authorization granted by 
the earlier AGM regarding on the repurchase of the com-
pany’s own shares.

Authorization for a share issue

The AGM authorized the Board of Directors to decide on the 
issuance of new shares through a share issue or by granting 

other special rights entitling to shares, referred to in Chapter 
10, Section 1 of the Finnish Companies Act, and/or disposing 
shares held by the company as follows:

The Board of Directors may, in one or more tranches, is-
sue new shares or grant special rights entitling to shares in 
accordance with Chapter 10, Section 1 of the Companies 
Act and dispose treasury shares. The total number of shares to 
be issued under the authorization may not exceed 1,485,000. 
The authorization includes the right to decide to issue either 
new shares or treasury shares either against payment or with-
out consideration. 

New shares or treasury shares may be issued in deviation from 
the shareholder’s pre-emptive rights, if there exists a weighty 
financial reason for the company to implement such direct-
ed share issue or, in the case of an issue without consider-
ation, an especially weighty financial reason for it both for the 
company and with regard to the interests of all shareholders 
in the company. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to resolve on the other 
terms and conditions as well as actions pertaining to the is-
suance of shares, option rights and to the granting of other 
special rights entitling to shares as well as the disposal of trea-
sury shares.

Shares and shareholders

NIXU Shares traded Total value (EUR) High (EUR) Low (EUR) Average price (EUR) Latest (EUR)
Jan-Jun 2022 1,156,948 7,463,162 8.02 5.00 6.31 5.62
Jul-Dec 2022 633,770 3,958,899 7.84 4.74 6.12 7.32
Jan-Dec 2022 1,790,718 11,422,062 8.02 4.74 6.21 7.32

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Market capitalization (EUR) 54,491,302 52,114,325
Number of shareholders 5,209 5,152
Total number of shares 7,447,219 7,425,219
Number of the company´s own shares held by the company 1,526 1,526

Nixu has one share serie. Each share entitles the holder to equal voting and dividend rights.  
Nixu’s shares are listed on the Official List of Nasdaq in Helsinki Stock Exchange.
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The authorization may be exercised to develop the capital 
structure, expand the ownership base, for the payment of 
consideration in transactions, when acquiring assets related 
to the company’s business operations and to implement in-
centive programmers so that the shares are issued directly to 
the employees and CEOs of the company and its subsidiar-
ies. The proposed maximum number of shares corresponds 
to approximately 20 per cent of all the registered shares in 
the company and out of this authorization, number of shares 
corresponding up to 5 per cent of all the registered shares in 
the company can be used as an incentive for the personnel.

The authorization is proposed to remain in force until the next 
AGM, however, up to June 30, 2023, whichever is the earliest, 
and it would replace the previous authorizations granted re-
garding a directed share issue and the disposal of treasury 
shares.

The Board of Directors of Nixu Corporation resolved a direct-
ed share issue and a matching share plan “Matching Share 
Plan 2022” (“Plan”) to the new CEO, Teemu Salmi. The plan 
consists of a directed share issue against payment (Share 
Issue 1/2022) whereby the CEO subscribes maximum 22,000 
new shares (New Shares) of Nixu Corporation, combined with 
the right of receiving, after a three-year retention period, two 
matching shares free of consideration for each full one New 
Shares subscribed in the Share Issue 1/2022. The Board of Di-
rectors of Nixu Corporation confirmed that the subscription 
price for the New Shares is the average weighted price of 
the share of Nixu Corporation in Nasdaq Helsinki Oy during 
the period between 14 February – 14 March 2022. It was 
confirmed that the subscription price for the New Shares is 
EUR 5.67 per share. A total of 22,000 new Nixu Corporation 
shares have been registered in the Trade Register, and the 
total subscription price of the new shares, EUR 124,740.00, was 
recorded in its entirety to the invested unrestricted equity of 
the company.

Flagging Notifications

According to the announcement received by Nixu Corpo-
ration, the aggregate ownership of Aktia Mikro Markka, Ak-
tia Nordic Micro Cap, Aktia Nordic Small Cap, Aktia Secu-
ra Investment funds, managed by Aktia Rahastoyhtiö Oy, 
increased above 5 percent on January 1, 2022. (Stock Ex-
change Release January 3, 2022)

Research and Development

During 2022, Nixu implemented internal development proj-
ects and the Group recognized research and development 
costs amounting to EUR 724 (747) thousand through profit or 
loss in the financial year that ended December 31, 2022.

The renewal of Nixu’s managed security services continued 
in 2022. In addition to the previously launched cloud-native 
SOC and XDR solutions, Nixu has invested in developing se-
curity controls for business-critical applications and service 
management to meet client preferences.

In 2022, Nixu completed a development project aimed at ISO 
27001 Certification. Throughout the project, Nixu has unified 
and further developed its information security management 
system processes and security practices across the Group. 
The certification was awarded to Nixu in March 2022.

Nixu is part of the Findynet Cooperative that is developing 
a general-purpose, shared, and secure verifiable data net-
work, which ensures the authenticity of information required 
in electronic interactions. This public-private cooperation 
aims to strengthen Finland’s leading position in digitalization 
and support the emergence of investments in new digital 
services. On August 31, 2022, the Finnish Ministry of Finance 
granted the Findynet Cooperative a three-million-euro gov-
ernment grant to build a pilot environment for a self-sover-
eign identity network.

In addition to income-funded development projects, Nixu 
has participated during 2022 in national and international 
projects, which have been financed by, among others, the 
EU and Business Finland. Among other things, Nixu has con-
tributed to the foundations of digital society and data econ-
omy in several collaborative projects.

In 2022, a two-year CSG project, led by the University of 
Jyväskylä, was launched to improve the information security 
of industrial automation environments. Nixu’s main goal in the 
project is to develop scalable information security controls for 
automation environments and to increase the level of auto-
mation of nonconformity detection and response.

Nixu participated in the 2022 VTT-led Mad@Work project. The 
project, conducted with the ITEA3 cluster consortium, lever-
ages data collected from the work environment and other 
resources to improve employee well-being, safety, and per-

formance as well as work environments. Nixu has offered its 
expertise by ensuring that the privacy and data protection of 
the project’s data transfer has been adequately addressed. 
Nixu also evaluates the privacy of AI solutions and matters 
related to ethical issues.

Nixu is a member of the MEDINA consortium (EU Horizon 2020, 
#952633). Established at the end of 2020, the three-year ME-
DINA project aims to provide a comprehensive framework 
that improves cloud client management and trust in cloud by 
supporting cloud service providers (IaaS, PaaS, and SaaS ser-
vice providers) to achieve continuous certification under the 
EU Cybersecurity Act. Under the new EU Cybersecurity Act (EU 
CSA), the European ICT market should build trust through the 
European certification scheme.

Risks and uncertainties

Nixu identifies and manages risks, as a part of its normal busi-
ness activities. The identified risks in Nixu’s risk management 
have been described below, which, if realized, could have a 
great impact on the company’s result.

General economic uncertainty, along with increasing interest 
rates and inflation may have an effect on the demand of 
Nixu’s services. 

The war in Ukraine and its consequences is a material risk 
and uncertainty. Due to the war the risk of cyber threats has 
increased. This also increases the risk that Nixu would be a 
target for cyber threats. Nixu does not have any business in 
Russia, Belorussia or in Ukraine. Instead, some of Nixu’s clients 
are still present in those countries. 

Covid 19 has continued, and it may still change its charac-
ters, therefore Nixu Employees’ health and ability to work, 
and thus the continuity of operations and services, are the 
most significant Covid-19 specific risk for Nixu. The hybrid way 
of working may also have negative impact on the employee 
well-being and in addition the turnover of employees may 
increase because of frustration in relation to it.

There are operational risks involved in Nixu’s business activi-
ties, such as malfunctions in IT systems and equipment, or an 
interruption in their availability. These may lead to the com-
pany not being able to produce its services as agreed. In ad-
dition, unexpected and continued lack of electricity supply 
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caused by ongoing energy crisis may influence Nixu’s capa-
bility to deliver services as planned.

Nixu handles client information in its operations. A breach 
to Nixu’s systems and materialized cybersecurity threat may 
cause significant direct or indirect damage to company’s 
operations.

In its activities, Nixu processes personal data of its clients. In 
addition, Nixu is the controller of the personal data of its own 
personnel. Eventual shortcomings in following the legislation, 
if realized, may result in substantial direct and indirect ad-
verse consequences to Nixu.

Unexpected delays and extra work are typical for large proj-
ects, adding uncertainty factors which may cause Nixu to incur 
additional costs. There may also be problems in providing con-
tinuous services, which may accrue additional costs to Nixu. In 
its activities, Nixu has a normal risk of ending up in conflicts with 
its clients which pertain to the contents of agreements. 

Although Nixu’s strategy relies mainly on organic growth, the 
company is also constantly searching for growth opportuni-
ties from acquisitions. If the acquired companies do not meet 
the set targets or if Nixu fails to integrate the acquired com-
panies, both aforementioned reasons may seriously disrupt 
Nixu’s operations. 

Nixu’s business requires remarkable trust from its clients. Infor-
mation security attacks are aimed at our clients’ systems and 
potential problems in Nixu’s services may result in substantial 
direct and indirect adverse consequences to Nixu. 

The financing agreements of Nixu include conventional cov-
enant conditions, which, if breached, may have an effect 
to the company’s financial position, especially in situations in 
which creditor would not consent to the renegotiation of said 
conditions, or providing their consent for the breaching of the 
covenant conditions. 

Losing any of the ten largest clients or losing a significant num-
ber of clients from the continuous services client base within a 
short period of time may also affect the company’s profitabil-
ity. Increased co-operation with strategic technology partner 
collaboration may lead, in case of non-successful co-opera-
tion to increased costs or loss of said partnership.

Future outlook

Rapid digitalization, geopolitical turbulence, and the rise of 
cybercrime keep contributing to the cybersecurity market 
growth. According to research company Gartner, global cy-
bersecurity spend will grow 11,3% in 2023. Cybersecurity mar-
ket growth in highly digitalized Northern European countries 
is expected to be faster than in global markets in 2023–2026 
(Gartner 2022). 

Market growth is increasing the need for skilled profession-
als in the cybersecurity domain, and according to ISC2, the 
worldwide gap of cybersecurity experts is estimated to be 3.4 
million persons. Due to the increasing demand for cyberse-
curity expertise, organizations will continue to have the need 
for the services of cybersecurity companies that are better 
positioned to grow talent. Geopolitics and countries’ growing 
need to build resilience with local cybersecurity services and 
specialists affect market dynamics. 

Increased legislation and business-interrupting cyber inci-
dents witnessed during past years have raised overall cy-
bersecurity awareness among leaders. These, together with 
physical safety risks introduced by cyber-physical systems, 
have raised cybersecurity to be the topic in boardrooms. To 
manage these risks, organizations seek to benchmark and 
control their integral supply chain vendors.

Nixu believes that over the next few years, the market will 
continue its consolidation and mature while the clients will 
have confidence in only a few larger companies they partner 
with. Nixu has gained the position of a trusted partner among 
many of its clients. With this position, clients wish Nixu to solve 
ever more diverse challenges. Hence, Nixu’s holistic services 
expand the average size of a client relationship. Typically, 
Nixu’s client base is very stable, and client relationships last for 
a long time, allowing the building of client-specific expertise. 

Source:  
Gartner Forecast: Information Security and Risk Manage-
ment, Worldwide, 2020–2026 (ISC)2 Cybersecurity Workforce 
study 2022

Events after the review period

Nixu updated its strategy and financial targets.

DNV announced a voluntary recommended public cash ten-
der for all shares and stock options in Nixu.

Financial Guidance for 2023

Nixu estimates its revenue to be EUR 66-70 million and 
profitability to improve.

The Board of Directors’ proposal for the dis-
tribution of profits

On December 31, 2022, the parent company’s assets sub-
ject to profit distribution amounted to EUR 14,737,485.18 of 
which the loss for the year amounts to EUR 1,560,329.94. 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meet-
ing that no dividend be paid for 2022. 

There have been no significant changes in Nixu’s financial 
status after the close of the financial year.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

EUR thousand Note 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021

Revenue 2.1 60,222 51,809
Other operating income 2.4 44 -123
Materials and services 2.3 -17,801 -12,944
Employee benefit expenses 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 -33,626 -31,791
Other operating expenses 2.4 -6,429 -5,479
Depreciation and amortization 4.2, 6.1 -1,846 -1,917
OPERATING RESULT 564 -444

Finance income 5.2 1 27
Finance expenses 5.2 -521 -453
Interest expenses on lease payments 5.2, 6.2 -61 -87
Finance income and expenses, net -580 -514

Result before taxes -17 -958

Income tax expense 2.5 59 -26
RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 42 -984

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation differences -391 -101
Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax -391 -101

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD -349 -1,085

Result for the period attributable to:
Owners of the parent 42 -984

RESULT FOR THE PERIOD 42 -984

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
Owners of the parent -349 -1,085
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -349 -1,085

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of the parent during the year 2.6
Basic and diluted earnings per share, EUR 0.01 -0.13

Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

EUR thousand Note 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 4.2 12,227 12,613
Other intangible assets 4.2 1,624 2,093
Tangible assets 6.1 148 253
Right-of-use assets 6.1, 6.2 1,435 2,139
Other receivables 265 265
Shares and similar rights of ownership 71 30
Deferred tax assets 8.1 270 170
Total non-current assets 16,040 17,563

Current assets
Trade receivables and other receivables 7.1 21,905 18,734
Current income tax receivables 20 333
Cash and cash equivalents 3,562 4,080
Total current assets 25,486 23,148

TOTAL ASSETS 41,526 40,710

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 95 95
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 19,439 19,314
Translation differences -856 -465
Retained earnings -6,013 -5,149
Result for the period 42 -984
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 3.2, 5.4 12,707 12,811

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 5.1, 5.3 1,622 2,365
Lease liabilities 5.1, 6.2 531 900
Deferred tax liabilities 8.1 185 195
Other non-current liabilities 289 283
Total non-current liabilities 2,627 3,743

Current liabilities
Borrowings 5.1, 5.3 3,690 2,686
Lease liabilities 5.1, 6.2 918 1,366
Trade payables and other payables 7.2 21,583 20,080
Current income tax liabilities 2 24
Total current liabilities 26,193 24,157
Total liabilities 28,820 27,899
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 41,526 40,710

Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EUR thousand Note 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Result for the period 42 -984
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 4.2, 6.1 1,846 1,917
Unrealized foreign exchange differences 135 0
Other non-cash adjustments1 5.2 139 -100
Finance income and expenses, net 5.2 580 507
Income tax expense 2.5 -59 26

Changes in working capital
Change in trade receivables and other receivables -3,318 -2,596
Change in inventories 0 6
Change in trade payables and other payables 1,558 2,814

Interests paid -420 -378
Other finance income and expenses, net -127 -54
Income taxes paid 256 -1,019
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 631 138

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of tangible assets 6.1 -1 -10
Purchases of intangible assets 4.2 0 -8
Other investments 11 -19
Proceeds from loans receivable -2 0
Net cash from investing activities 8 -37

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares and other equity securities 3.2, 5.4 125 0
Proceeds from borrowings 5.1 981 0
Repayments of borrowings 5.1 -763 -625
Lease liability repayments -1,397 -1,398
Net cash from financing activities -1,054 -2,023

Net decrease(-)/increase in cash and cash equivalents -415 -1,921
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 4,080 6,031
Exchange gains/losses (-) on cash and cash equivalents -103 -30
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 3,562 4,080

1) Primarily comprises the adjustment of personnel costs recognized for share-based compensation. 

Notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the parent

EUR thousand Note
Share  

capital

Invested  
unrestricted  

equity reserve

Cumulative  
translation  
difference

Retained  
earnings Total 

Equity at 1 Jan 2021 95 19,314 -364 -5,038 14,007

Result for the period -984 -984
Other comprehensive income for the period:

Translation differences -101 -101
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 -101 -984 -1,085

Transactions with owners:
Share based payments 3.2 -111 -111
Total transactions with owners: 0 0 0 -111 -111

EQUITY AT 31 DEC 2021 95 19,314 -465 -6,133 12,811

Equity at 1 Jan 2022 95 19,314 -465 -6,133 12,811

Result for the period 42 42
Other comprehensive income for the period:

Translation differences -391 -391
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 -391 42 -349

Transactions with owners:
Share issue related to 2022 share-based compensation deducted 
with transaction costs 5.4 125 125
Share based payments 3.2 120 120
Total transactions with owners: 0 125 0 120 245

EQUITY AT 31 DEC 2022 95 19,439 -856 -5,971 12,707

Notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Section 1: Notes on Financial 
Statements 
These consolidated interim financial statements comprise of 
Nixu Corporation (”the Company”) or (”the Parent Compa-
ny”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” 
or ”Nixu”). 

Nixu is a cybersecurity services company on a mission to keep 
the digital society running. Our passion is to help organizations 
embrace digitalization securely. Partnering with our clients we 
provide practical solutions for ensuring business continuity, an 
easy access to digital services and data protection. We aim 
to provide the best workplace to our team of over 400 cyber-
security professionals with a hands-on attitude. With Nordic 
roots we serve enterprise clients worldwide. Nixu shares are 
listed on the Nasdaq Helsinki stock exchange. The Nixu Cor-
poration shares are listed on the Official List of Nasdaq Helsinki 
stock exchange. The Parent Company domicile is in Espoo, 
and the registered address is Keilaranta 15, 02150 ESPOO. A 
copy of the financial statements is available on the Internet 
at www.nixu.com. 

Nixu’s Board of Directors has approved these financial state-
ments in their meeting on March 7, 2023. According to the 
Finnish Companies Act, shareholders have the opportunity 
to approve or reject the financial statements at the Gener-
al meeting of Shareholders held after publication. It is also 
possible to amend the financial statements at the General 
meeting of Shareholders.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements that follow 
present information relevant to understanding Nixu`s:

•	 Result for the year;

•	 People;

•	 Acquisitions and group structure;

•	 Interest-bearing Net Debt and Equity and

•	 Other assets and liabilities

Other information that is required to be disclosed to comply 
with the accounting standards but are not considered to be 
significant to understand the financial performance or finan-
cial position of Nixu are provided at the end of the notes. 

•	 Revenue: Revenue recognition of large fixed-price	  proj-
ects (note 2.1.)

•	 Revenue: Recognition of tech resell revenue - Nixu as an 
agent (note 2.1.)

•	 Segment information: aggregation of operating segments 
(note 2.2.)

•	 Acquisitions: Determination of the fair value of the net assets 
acquired (note 4.1.)

•	 Acquisitions: Management judgment relating to the determi-
nation of contingent consideration (note 4.1.)

•	 Intangible assets, including goodwill impairment testing: Allo-
cation of goodwill and estimation of the carrying value (note 
4.2.)

•	 Intangible assets, including goodwill impairment testing: The 
economic useful life of customer relationships (note 4.2.)

•	 Tangible assets, including depreciation: Estimation of carry-
ing value and economic useful life of the right-of-use assets 
(note 6.1.)

•	 Leased assets, the right-of-use assets classification of leases 
(note 6.2.)

•	 Deferred taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets and de-
ferred tax liabilities (note 8.1.)

Impact in the financial reporting of the war in Ukraine, 
high inflation and increasing interest rates

The Group has estimated the possible effects of the war in Ukraine, 
high inflation and rising interest rates on financial reporting. 

In general, the war in Ukraine has not had a significant impact on 
Nixu’s figures and asset values in the 2022 period. Nixu does not 
have any business in Russia, Belorussia or in Ukraine, instead some 
of Nixu’s clients are present in those countries.

General economic uncertainty, such as increasing interest rates 
and inflation, may have an effect on the demand of Nixu’s ser-
vices and company’s personnel and other costs. The interest 
rate hedging of loans is described in the note 5.1.

In accordance with IAS 36, non-financial assets must be tested 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that their value 
may be impaired. In addition, goodwill is tested at least annual-
ly. Nixu monitored the development of the situation during the 
year and assessed its impact on financial reporting, including 
non-current assets and the valuation of trade receivables. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and 
liabilities (derivative instruments) which are measured at fair 
value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
thousands of euros, which is the functional and presentation 
currency of the parent company. Items included in the financial 
statements of each subsidiary are measured using the currency 
of primary economic environment in which the subsidiary op-
erates. All amounts presented are in thousands of euros unless 
otherwise noted and are rounded. Accordingly, in certain in-
stances, the sum of the numbers in a column or row may not 
conform exactly to the total amount given for that column or 
row. The information presented in the financial statements is 
audited, except for the Report of the Board of Directors. The 
information in the Annual Review and Corporate Governance 
Report is unaudited.

Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements of Nixu have 
been prepared in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations 
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS as ad-
opted by the European Union. The notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements also comply with the Finnish 
accounting and corporate legislation complementing 
the IFRS standards.

Key accounting estimates 

In preparing these financial statements, management are re-
quired to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that af-
fect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual re-
sults may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to ac-
counting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In particu-
lar, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertain-
ty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements are described in the fol-
lowing notes:
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Section 2: Result for the period 
This section contains information relevant to understanding 
the results and performance of the Group during the report-
ing period:

•	 Revenue

•	 Segment information

•	 Materials and services

•	 Other operating income and expenses

•	 Income taxes

•	 Earnings per share

2.1	 Revenue 

Nixu provides a wide range of cybersecurity consultancy ser-
vices and continuous services and sells licenses to both busi-
ness enterprises and the public sector. Nixu’s solutions include 
the following service concepts: business digitalization; cyber 
defense; cybersecurity outsourcing; cloud security, safety, 
and reliability; compliance and certification; and security 
for connected devices. Typically, the service concepts and 
customer contracts include several types of services, as de-
scribed below in more detail. 

The Projects and assignments area includes one-off assign-
ments, whose duration and scope range from extensive deliv-
ery projects to individual audit and consultancy assignments.

All continuous services include:

•	 Managed services include services such as Nixu CDC ser-
vices and continuous identity and access management 
services, where Nixu takes the management responsibility 
for the technology provided and a continuous opera-
tional role in supporting customer operations. Managed 
security services also include the licenses sold for them, 
whether or not they are included in the contractual ser-
vice price or sold separately.

•	 Continuous services include continuous services other 
than managed services, including continuous identity 
and access management services. They differ from other 
assignments in that they are based on agreements that 
are valid until further notice or self-renewing agreements.

Technology resale includes resale of third-party software and 
technology service licenses as well as technology resale, 
usually together with other services. License revenue also in-
cludes maintenance services. Licenses for managed security 
services are not included in license revenue.
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Revenue by type of service Revenue by geography

The geographical breakdown of revenue is based on the customer location with which the contract for services has been made. Part of the services may have been delivered to other countries. 
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EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Service type:
Projects and assignments 28,527 26,003

Total continuous services 20,247 18,241

Managed services 11,828 9,953

Continuous services 8,419 8,287

Technology resell 11,448 7,566

Total 60,222 51,809

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Finland 36,002 29,923
Sweden 10,724 9,836
Denmark 8,527 7,594
Benelux 1,390 1,422
Norway 1,777 1,061
Other 1,801 1,973
Total 60,222 51,809

Projects and 
assignments

Total continuous 
services

Technology  
resell

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 	 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 	 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 	 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021

Finland Sweden BeneluxDenmark Norway Other

Total continuous services in detail

Managed services Continuous services
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Accounting policy

All revenue is recognized on a gross basis, because Nixu 
acts as a principal towards the customer. resale of tech-
nology may involve profits in which Nixu acts an agent re-
sulting in Nixu earning a net commission share. Revenues 
are reported after the deduction of indirect taxes and any 
discounts allowed. 

Nixu accounts for each service and license as a separate 
performance obligation, because they are separately 
identifiable and customer can benefit from each service 
and product separately. Service contracts do not involve 
significant customization of the software. 

Contracts with customers include some variable consider-
ation, such as discounts, target prices, or sanctions related 
to the achievement of a service level in continuous ser-
vices. Nixu estimates the amount of variable consideration 
based on expected value at the inception of the contract 
and at the end of each reporting period, and includes in 
the transaction price only the amount that meets criteria 
of being highly probable. The transaction price is allocat-
ed to the performance obligations based on their relative 
standalone selling prices. Nixu does not grant its customers 
payment terms exceeding one year, and the contracts 
do not include significant financing components.

Contract assets

Contract assets are recognized for provided services that have 
not yet been invoiced. For projects and assignments, invoic-
ing is typically based on the performance agreed upon in the 
contract which is invoiced monthly on an hourly basis in accor-
dance with the work performed. The charge may also be based 
on a fixed price which is invoiced gradually. A separate hourly 
rate has been determined for additional work. The change in 
the contract assets is mainly due to a normal seasonal variation 
and to the fact that some of the projects require prior approval 
of an invoice according to the customer´s process before the 
actual invoice can be sent.	

The Cyber Defence Center (CDC) service contracts include 
set-up costs relating to the implementation of the service, 
which are capitalized as costs to fulfill a contract and amor-
tized over the contract period. In 2022, the accrued amount 
of costs to fulfill a contract be amortized on later periods was 
EUR 64 (10) thousand. The CDC service production needs 
production licenses, the costs of which are charged from 
customer as part of the monthly invoice; however, Nixu pays 
to license vendor for the next year´s use of the license in 
advance. Production licenses paid in advance that will be 
charged from customers in future and had been periodized 
was EUR 1,113 (610) thousand.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities are recognized for payments received 
from services that have not been provided. Revenue from 
CDC implementation services has been recognized by Nixu 
as a contract liability EUR 205 (29) thousand and amortized 
over the period during which continuous managed CDC ser-
vices are provided. In all continuous services, i.e. managed 
cybersecurity services and continuous services the perfor-
mance provided is typically based on a fixed monthly or 
quarterly fee, and payment takes place in advance monthly 
or quarterly. Nixu has invoiced in advance managed services 
EUR 743 (230) thousand.

For some CDC contracts, CDC projects include service level 
agreements that are monitored on a monthly basis and, if nec-
essary, recognized. Some customers have been granted vol-
ume discounts based on turnover which are recognized. Such 
volume discounts for 2022 are EUR 9 (21) thousand. 

For licenses included in technology resale, the time of pay-
ment is typically determined by the time of delivery. For li-
cense maintenance fees, the payment is usually made in 
advance for the following year. For hardware, the time of 
payment for the goods provided is typically determined by 
the time of delivery. Nixu has invoiced license revenue in ad-
vance EUR 7,935 (6,926) thousand.

From contract liabilities, a revenue of EUR 5,661 (6,847) thou-
sand has been recognized for the reporting period.

Payment terms for all contract types vary between 14 and 
60 days.

Projects and assignments

Revenue from projects and assignments is recognized over 
time in the accounting period in which the services are ren-
dered. The performance related to the projects does not 
create an asset with an alternative use, and Nixu has an en-
forceable right to payment for the performance completed. 

For projects and assignments agreements which are invoiced 
on time incurred, revenue is recognized in the amount to 
which Nixu has a right to invoice on monthly basis. Revenue 
from fixed-price projects is recognized based on service pro-
vided by the end of the reporting period as a proportion of 
the total services to be provided. This is determined based on 
the actual labor hours spent in proportion to the total expect-
ed labor hours. If the services rendered by Nixu exceed the 
payment, a contract asset is recognized. The contract asset is 

Contractual assets and liabilities

The Group’s balance sheet includes the following contractual assets and liabilities:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Contract assets - Projects and assignments 1,650 1,251
Receivables 10,811 9,318
Contract assets and receivables total 12,461 10,568

Costs to obtain contracts with customers
Managed services 1,113 620
Licenses 6,885 6,268
Costs to obtain contracts with customers total 7,998 6,888

Contract liabilities1

Projects and assignments 215 320
Managed services 948 259
Continuous services 57 29
Licenses 7,935 6,926
Contract liabilities total 9,155 7,534
1) Included in accrued expenses, see Note 7.2. Trade payables and other liabilities.
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transferred to receivables when entitlement to payment be-
comes unconditional. If the payments exceed the services 
rendered, a contract liability is recognized.

Managed services and continuous services 

When Nixu’s customer receives and consumes simultaneously 
the benefits from the services, Nixu recognizes revenue as man-
aged services, other continuous services, software when provid-
ed as a service (SaaS), and maintenance services are provided. 
As a general rule, revenue is recognized in the amount to which 
Nixu has a right to invoice on monthly basis. 

Contracts on continuous services normally include only one 
performance obligation, which is a series of distinct services. 
Contractual penalties relating to service levels are recog-
nized as an adjustment to revenue. The requirement for the 
allocation of variable consideration to a distinct service in a 
series is met in continuous services, where Nixu allocates and 
recognizes variable consideration in the period during which 
it has a contractual right to a fee.

Technology resell 

Revenue from software licenses is recognized at a point in 
time upon delivery of the software when the customer has 
obtained an access to software and the customer is able 
to benefit from the software. License revenue also includes 
maintenance services, for which revenue is recognized over 
time as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 
the benefit from the service. Revenue from hardware is typi-
cally recorded at the time when the customer’s approval of 
the delivery is received. Equipment maintenance and the li-
cense allowing updates are recognized over time as the cus-
tomer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of 
service. 

Contract costs

Where the criteria for capitalization are met, Nixu recognizes 
as an asset the incremental costs of obtaining a contract, 
such as sales bonuses, and the costs to fulfill a contract, such 
as set-up costs at the inception of the contract. The incre-
mental costs of obtaining a contract and costs to fulfill a 
contract that meet the capitalization criteria are presented 
in the statement of financial position as part of the contract 
asset. Any incremental costs of obtaining a contract are rec-
ognized as an expense as incurred if the amortization period 

of such capitalized costs would be one year or less. Costs to 
fulfill a contract recognized as an asset are amortized in 1 to 
3 years depending on the contract period.

Application of practical expedients 

Nixu applies practical expedient permitted in IFRS 15 of recog-
nizing incremental costs of obtaining contract and disclosing 
part of unrecognized revenue of projects and assignments 
and managed services and continuous services (transaction 
price allocated to performance obligations not satisfied) as 
contracts of these services have an expected duration of less 
than one year (contracts for managed services and continu-
ous services are continued until further notice or can be ter-
minated within a year as a general rule) or Nixu recognizes 
revenue based on invoicing.

Key judgements and estimates 

Fixed-price projects

The fixed-price projects mainly consist of separate audit and 
consultation assignments with an average duration of [6] 
months. The deliveries of some more extensive fixed-price 
solutions may involve uncertainties, such as delays in projects 
or costs incurred in excess of initial estimates. For this types 
of projects, management uses judgement and assesses the 
amount recognized as revenue from the project. Estimates 
of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion 
of projects and assignments are revised if circumstances 
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated 
revenues or costs are reflected in profit or loss in the period 
in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision be-
come known by management.

License revenue – Nixu as principal

Nixu has used judgment to assess whether Nixu is a principal 
or an agent in sales of third party software and technology 
service licenses. As Nixu grants customer a right to use a li-
cense, Nixu is responsible for fulfilling contractual obligations 
related to licenses, Nixu sets prices and independently sells 
the licenses mainly as a part of Nixu’s other services and the 
license owning party only provides limited support services to 
Nixu, Nixu has concluded to be a principal on the arrange-
ment. If Nixu does not have above obligations, Nixu will con-
sider acting as an agent.

2.2	 Segment information 

Nixu has only one reportable segment. Nixu’s CEO is the 
Group’s chief operating decision maker (CODM) and oper-
ating segments are determined on the basis of information 
reviewed by the CEO for the purposes of allocating resources 
and assessing the operating segment’s performance. 

The CODM of Nixu has determined that in the fiscal year 2021 
there are four operating segments: Finland, Sweden, Nether-
lands and Denmark. All operating segments provide cyber 
security services consisting of projects and assignments, contin-
uous services and license sales. The management of Nixu has 
decided to aggregate these operating segments into one re-
portable segment that consists all Nixu’s operations. Therefore 
separate segment information is not disclosed.

Key judgements and estimates 

Nixu’s management has used judgement when aggregating 
operating segments into one reportable segment.

All Nixu’s operating segments provide either the same or similar 
type of cyber security services. The focus is on technology-based 
continuous services, which can be seamlessly integrated into the 
company’s cyber security consultation business. 

Based on “One Nixu” management philosophy Nixu has uni-
form operating model for its customers in each operating 
segment. Customers are provided with the most optimal set 
of skills, independent of where the security consultants are lo-
cated, thus creating a model where one pool of security con-
sultants and same methods of providing services is used for all 
operating segments’ customers. 

The customer base and regulatory environment are similar in 
all operating segments as those are located mainly in the EU 
area and their operations are not focused on a specific cus-
tomer type with a distinctive regulatory environment. In addi-
tion the long-term growth and profitability trends are consid-
ered similar for all operating segments.

The geographical split of the revenue is disclosed in the 
Revenue section. 
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The non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets)  
by geographical location are shown in the following table.

EUR thousand 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Finland 3,958 4,384
Sweden 5,595 6,498
Benelux 319 516
Denmark 5,562 5,700
Total 15,434 17,098

2.3  Materials and services 

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Subcontracting 5,303 3,282

Hosting and technology resell related 
expenses 12,498 9,662
Total 17,801 12,944

Materials and services provided include technology resell cost like license fees and, production costs 
related to managed services, and other direct costs associated with the provision of the services of 
the Group. 

The table below shows the other operating expenses of the company:

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Marketing expenses 696 631
Personnel related expenses 1,950 1,409
ICT expenses 1,461 1,239
Facilities 451 413
External services 1,297 1,254
Other operating expenses 573 533
Total 6,429 5,479

Other operating expenses include general expenses such as marketing expenses, fees of ex-
perts and consultants, as well as costs related to telecommunications and information tech-
nology. Other operating expenses include the auditor’s fees as per the attached specification. 

Auditors´ fees
   
EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Statutory audit 157 157
Other services 19 21
Total 175 179

Accounting policy

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except for certain develop-
ment costs, which are capitalized as they generate future economic benefits, and Nixu 
can the measure the cost reliably. 

Nixu does not have any capitalized development costs in its financial statements. In the finan-
cial year ended December 31, 2022, the Group recognized EUR 724 (747) thousand in research 
and development expenses through profit or loss. 

2.4	 Other operating income and expenses

Other operating income includes mainly grants received. The amount of grants for the finan-
cial year ended December 31, 2022 was EUR 42 (-283) thousand. 

Accounting policy 

Government grants received as cash are recognized when there is a reasonable as-
surance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with the attached 
conditions. Government grants are recognized in the income statement in the period 
necessary to match them with the costs they are intended to compensate.
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Accounting policy 

The income tax expense or income for the period is the tax payable on the current pe-
riod’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction 
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary dif-
ferences and to unused tax losses. The current income tax charge is calculated on the 
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period 
in the countries where the Group companies operate and generate taxable income. 
Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the 
tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.5	 Income taxes

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Current tax on result for the period -26 -146
Adjustments in respect of prior years -10 -4
Total current income tax expense -35 -150
Deferred tax

Change in deferred tax assets -230 -253
Change in deferred tax liabilities 325 377

Total deferred tax 94 124
Income tax expense 59 -26

The following is a reconciliation between the tax expense and the tax payable:

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Result before taxes -17 -958
Tax calculated at Finnish tax rate 20% 3 192
Tax effect of:

Effect of other tax rates for foreign subsidiaries -8 19
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes1 -42 -2

Utilization of previously unrecognized 
tax losses2 109 0

Unrecognized deferred tax assets on  
tax losses2 0 -226
Other items 6 10

Adjustment in respect of prior years -10 -19
Income tax expense in income statement 59 -26

1) Non-deductible expenses mainly include expenses related to share based payments.

2) The operations of the Group’s subsidiaries Nixu B.V and Nixu AB, have been unprofitable and the 
Group has not recognized any deferred tax assets for these losses. In 2022, unrecognized confirmed 
losses from previous years were recognized EUR 567 thousand. Comparison year 2021, the amount of 
losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognized is EUR 1,096 thousand. This has a significant im-
pact on the Group’s effective tax rate. Further information on the Group’s deferred taxes is presented 
in Note 8.1.

2.6	 Earnings per share

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021

Result for the period attributable to the owners of the 
parent 41,887 -983,760

Weighted average number of shares, undiluted 7,437,797 7,418,602
Earnings per share, basic (EUR) 0.01 -0.13

Impact of shares related to share based incentive 
plan 28,208 0

Weighted average number of shares, fully diluted 7,466,005 7,418,602
Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) 0.01 -0.13

Diluted earnings per share is not shown for the comparative period, because earnings /  share 
was negative. 

Accounting policy 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
reporting period (excluding any treasury shares).

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of the basic earn-
ings per share to take into account the weighted average number of additional ordinary 
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive poten-
tial ordinary shares.
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3.1	 Employee benefits

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Wages and salaries 27,546 25,841
Social security expenses 1,895 2,017
Share-based payments 133 82
Pension expenses – defined contribution plans 4,052 3,850
Total 33,626 31,791

2022 2021
Number of employees at the end of period 393 389
Average number of employees during the period 392 385

Nixu has employees in Finland, Sweden, Denmark, the Netherlands and Romania. The company’s pension arrangements in all its 
countries of operation are defined contribution plans. 

Group employees are included in the performance-based annual bonus scheme. The annual bonus is based on the financial ratios 
of the group, the unit and the team and the achievement of personal performance targets. In Finland, annual bonuses are trans-
ferred to the Personnel Fund if the person so wishes to increase the commitment of the personnel to long-term goals and promote 
its interest in the Group’s financial success. The Personnel Fund is a personnel fund owned and managed by the employees in ac-
cordance with the Employees Fund Act, which owned 122,513 Nixu shares on December 31, 2022. The amount of annual bonuses 
transferred to the Personnel Fund in 2022 was EUR 22 thousand. The Personnel Fund was established in October 2016. 

Accounting policy 

Liabilities related to short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits include salaries including fringe benefits, vacation pays payable within 12 months and 
annual bonuses. Short-term employee benefits are recognized as other liabilities in respect of employee service up to 
the reporting date and measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus plan if the criteria for paying such 
bonuses are met.

Defined contribution plans 
For defined contribution plans, contributions are paid to pension insurance companies. Once the contributions have 
been paid, there are no further payment obligations. Contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the 
income statement in the period to which the contributions relate.

Section 3: Personnel
This section includes information how Nixu rewards its employees and key management personnel. The section includes details 
of employee benefits, share-based incentive plans and related party information related to the remuneration of key manage-
ment personnel as follows:

•	 Employee benefits

•	 Share-based payments

•	 Key management personnel disclosures

3.2 Employee share-based incentive plan 

The 2019 share-based incentive plan

Nixu established a matching share plan, the All-Employee 
Matching Share Plan 2019–2021 (the Plan), which was aimed 
at all permanent employees of Nixu Corporation and its sub-
sidiaries in 2019. 

The Plan consisted of a directed share issue against payment 
(“Share Issue 1/2019”) offering Nixu regular employees the option 
to subscribe for a minimum of 50 and a maximum of 2,000 Nixu 
new shares per employee (“New Shares”) and entitlement of one 
(1) additional share (gross) (together the “Additional Shares”) for 
gratuitous rights of employees participating in the Plan after a 
restriction period of approximately two years, for each of the two 
New Shares subscribed in the Issue 1/2019 as per the terms of the 
Plan. Additional shares will be issued to the participants on the 
day of their delivery as determined by Nixu Corporation. Employ-
ees participating in the Plan had the opportunity to participate in 
the financing of the company on separate terms.

The maximum number of shares to be subscribed for in the share 
issue 1/2019 was 100,000, representing approximately 1.4 per 
cent of the Company’s fully diluted shares. The Board of Directors 
of the Company determined the subscription price of the New 
Shares based on the volume-weighted average price of the 
share traded on Nasdaq Helsinki Oy from April 1 to April 30, 2019. 
99,071 new shares were subscribed for in the share issue 1/2019. 
The subscription period for the New Shares ended on May 23, 
2019 and the subscription price was EUR 12.09 per share.

Directed share issue 1/2022 and Matching Share Plan

The Board of Directors of Nixu Corporation has resolved a 
directed share issue and a matching share plan “Matching 
Share Plan 2022” (“Plan”) to the new CEO, Teemu Salmi. 

The plan consisted of a directed share issue against payment 
(Share Issue 1/2022) whereby the CEO subscribes maximum 22 
000 new shares (New Shares) of Nixu Corporation, combined 
with the right of receiving, after a three years retention period, 
two matching shares free of consideration for each full one 
New Shares subscribed in the Share Issue 1/2022. A total of 
22,000 shares were subscribed for.

The subscription price was the average weighted price of the 
share of Nixu Corporation in Nasdaq Helsinki Oy during the pe-
riod between 14 February –14 March 2022. The Board of Direc-
tors of Nixu Corporation confirmed that the subscription price 
for the New Shares was EUR 5.67 per share.
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The table below presents basic information on the share-based incentive plan and changes during 
the period.

Share-based incentive plan 2022

Plan Matching Share Plan 2022
Annual General Shareholders` Meeting date 30 Mar 2021
Initial amount, pcs 44,000
Dividend adjustment No
Grant Date 27 Feb 2022
Beginning of earning period 22 Aug 2022
End of Earning period 21 Aug 2025
End of restriction period 21 Aug 2025

Vesting Conditions
Own investment and  

Continued Employment
Maximum contractual life, yrs 3.5
Remaining contractual life, yrs 2.6
Number of persons at the end of reporting year 1
Payment method Cash and Equity (tax share)
  
Changes during the period
1 Jan 2022
Outstanding in the beginning of the period 0
Reserve in the beginning of the period 0
  
Changes during period
Granted 44,000
Forfeited 0
Earned (gross) 0
Delivered (net) 0

31 Dec 2022
Outstanding at the of the period 0
Reserved at the of the period 0

The fair value of share-based incentives is determined on the date of issue and the fair value 
is recorded as expenses until vesting. The pricing of share-based incentives granted during the 
period was determined based on the following information:

Valuation parameters for instruments granted during period
Share price at grant, € 6,18
Share price at reporting period end, € 7,32
Expected dividends, € 0
Valuation model Discounted dividends
Fair Value 31.12.2022 271 920

The table below presents basic information on the share-based incentive plan and changes during 
the period.

Share-based incentive plan 2019–2021

Plan All-Employee Matching Share Plan 2019–2021
Annual General Shareholders` Meeting date 25 Apr 2018
Initial amount, pcs 50,000
Dividend adjustment No
Grant Date 6 Jun 2019
Beginning of earning period 6 Jun 2019
End of Earning period 31 Mar 2021
End of restriction period 31 Mar 2021

Vesting Conditions
Own investment and  

Continued Employment
Maximum contractual life, yrs 1.8
Remaining contractual life, yrs 0
Number of persons at the end of reporting year 135
Payment method Cash and Equity (tax share)
  
Changes during the period
1 Jan 2022
Outstanding in the beginning of the period 0
Reserve in the beginning of the period 0
  
Changes during period
Granted 0
Forfeited 0
Earned (gross) 0
Delivered (net) 0

31 Dec 2022
Outstanding at the of the period 0
Reserved at the of the period 0
 

The incentive plan is classified as an equity-settled share-based incentive plan. On the review 
period ended December 31, 2022, the plan increased the company’s employee benefit ex-
penses and retained earnings by EUR 0 (51) thousand.
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The incentive plan is classified as an equity-settled share-
based incentive plan. On the review period ended December 
31, 2022, the plan increased the company’s employee benefit 
expenses and retained earnings by EUR 31 (0) thousand.

Issuance of stock options to key employees

Based on the authorization granted by the AGM held on April 
25, 2018, the Board of Directors of Nixu Corporation decided 
to issue stock options.

The stock options will be issued to selected key personnel of 
Nixu Group. There is a weighty financial ground for the Com-
pany for the issuance of the stock options since the stock 
options are intended to form part of the incentive and com-
mitment program of the key persons and to motivate the key 
personnel to work on a long-term basis to increase the share-
holder value of the company in accordance with the growth 
strategy.

The total maximum number of Stock Options issued is 345,000 
and they entitle their holders to subscribe for a total maximum 
number of 345,000 shares of the Company. Each Stock Op-
tion entitles to subscribe for one (1) share in the Company. 

Of the Stock Options, 115,000 Stock Options are marked with 
the symbol 2019A, 115,000 with the symbol 2019B and 115,000 
with the symbol 2019C.

A condition of receiving the 2019A stock options was that the 
key employee participated in a directed share issue to the 
personnel. Also the other Stock Option series may be made 
conditional on an investment in the Company’s shares, such 
as participation in a share issue directed to personnel.

The Stock Option holders’ right to keep the Stock Options until 
the commencement of the share subscription period, is con-
ditional on the fulfillment of performance targets of employ-
ee and customer satisfaction and revenue growth on terms 
separately determined by the company. The stock options 
are issued free of charge.

The share subscription price shall be the following: 2019A EUR 
12.09, 2019B EUR 9.48 and 2019C EUR 9.95.

If the Company after the end of the share subscription price 
determination period, before the share subscription, distrib-
utes dividends or funds from the reserve of unrestricted equi-
ty, the share subscription price with the Stock Option shall be 

reduced with the amount of such distribution per share. The 
share subscription price shall, nevertheless, always amount to 
at least EUR 0.01. The share subscription price shall be booked 
in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity.

The share subscription period with the Stock Options shall be 
for Stock Options 2019A October 1, 2021 – May 31, 2023; for 
Stock Options 2019B October 1, 2022 – May 31, 2024; for Stock 
Options 2019C October 1, 2023 – May 31, 2025. The maximum 
number of shares 345,000 which may be subscribed with the 
stock options is approximately 4.5 per cent of the company’s 
shares on a fully diluted basis.

The Board of Directors of the Company decided for Stock 
Options 2019A that the subscription period and the fulfillment 
of performance targets shall be moved to begin December 
31, 2022 and end August 8, 2024. The subscription period for 
Stock Options 2019A was originally decided to be October 1, 
2021 – May 31, 2023. Previously determined fulfillment of per-
formance targets remain the same.

Accounting policy 

Share-based incentive plans are accounted for either 
as equity or cash settled share-based payments. In 
Nixu’s share-based incentive plan the employees (in-
cluding senior executives) of the Group receive shares 
in exchange for employee services. Nixu may obtain 
the necessary shares by using its treasury shares or may 

purchase shares from the market.
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Share based incentives during the period 1.1.2022 – 31.12.2022					   

Plan Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019A Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019B Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019C Total
Annual General Shareholders` Meeting date Apr 25, 2018 Apr 25, 2018 Apr 25, 2018
Initial amount, pcs 115,000 115,000 115,000 345,000
The subscription ratio for underlying shares, pcs 1 1 1
Initial exercise price, € 12.09 9.48 9.95
Dividend adjustment Yes Yes Yes
Current exercise price, € 12.09 9.48 9.95
Initial allocation date Jun 14, 2019 Jan 4, 2021 Oct 29, 2021
Vesting date Dec 31, 2022 Oct 1, 2022 Oct 1, 2023
Maturity date Aug 31, 2024 May 31, 2024 May 31, 2025
Vesting conditions - -

Own Investment in Nixu shares, performance targets in; Reve-
nue, Employee Net Promoter Score and Customer Satisfaction 
Maximum contractual life, yrs 5.2 3.4 3.6 4.1
Remaining contractual life, yrs 1.7 1.4 2.4 1.8
Number of persons at the end of reporting year 30 52 23
Payment method Shares Shares Shares
    
Changes during period Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019A Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019B Nixu Corporation Stock Options 2019C Total
1 Jan 2022    
Outstanding in the beginning of the period 87,300 93,000 110,000 290,300
Reserve in the beginning of the period 27,700 22,000 5,000 54,700
     
Changes during period    
Granted 0 0 10,000 10,000
Forfeited 23,500 25,000 32,500 81,000
Invalidated during period 0 0 0 0
Exercised 0 0 0 0
Weighted average subscription price, € 0 0 0 0
Weighted average price of shares, € *) 0 0 0 0
Expired 0 0 0 0
     
31 Dec 2022    
Exercised at the end of period 0 0 0 0
Outstanding at the of the period 63,800 68,000 87,500 219,300
Vested and outstanding at the of the period 63,800 68,000 0 131,800
Reserved at the of the period 51,200 47,000 27,500 125,700
  
*weighted average price for the company share during the reporting period or partial instrument term

The incentive plan is classified as an equity-settled share-based incentive plan. On the review period ended December 31, 2022, the plan increased the company’s employee benefit expenses and 
retained earnings by EUR 135 (31) thousand.
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3.3	 Information on key management personnel disclosures 

Key management personnel include Nixu’s Board of Directors, CEO and Corporate  
Leadership Team.

Remuneration of the Members of the Board 

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021

Salaries, remuneration and 
benefits   
Jari Niska 45 19
Kimmo Rasila 11 41
Marko Kauppi 38 32
Jaya Baloo 6 21
Kati Hagros 24 22
Joakim Karske 18 0
Anders Silwer 25 22
Tuija Soanjärvi 0 5
Total 167 162

There are 5 members on the Board of Nixu. In 2022, Nixu’s Annual General Meeting decided remu-
neration for the Board as follows: The Chairman of the Board receives a fixed yearly fee of EUR 48,000 
(4,000 per month), Deputy Chairman EUR 33,000 (2,400 per month) and other members of the Board of 
Directors EUR 22,000 (1,600 per month). 30% of the fixed annual remuneration mentioned above, shall 
be paid in the company’s shares repurchased from the marketplace and 70% in cash. In addition to 
the annual remunerations, a meeting specific remuneration of EUR 300 shall be paid in cash for atten-
dance at meeting outside of the Member’s country of residence. Travel expenses are reimbursed in 
accordance with the Company’s travel policy.

In 2022, the Audit Committee has consisted of the following members: Marko Kauppi (Chair), Jari Niska 
(member) and Anders Silwer (member). The Chair of the Audit Committee is paid an annual remu-
neration of EUR 4,000 (4,000), while the Committee’s members are paid EUR 2,000 (2,000) per year. In 
2022, the Personnel and Remuneration Committee has consisted of the following members: Kati Hagros 
(Chair), Joakim Karske (member) and Jari Niska (member). The Chair of the Personnel and Remunera-
tion Committee is paid an annual remuneration of EUR 2,000 (2,000), while the Committee’s members 
are paid EUR 1,000 (1,000) per year.

Corporate Leadership Team salaries and fees 

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021

Management team remuneration (except 
CEO)   
Wages, salaries and benefits 776 914
Share-based payments 0 13

Pension expenses  
– defined contribution plans 107 159
Total 882 1,086

Members of the Nixu Corporate Leadership Team include the chief executive officer, the chief finan-
cial officer, chief personnel officer and business area leaders.

The remuneration of the CEO

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Wages, salaries and benefits 327 243
Share-based payments 31 3

Pension expenses  
– defined contribution plans 58 41
Total 416 287

The mutual term of notice of the CEO contract is three (3) months. If the Company ter-
minates the contract, the CEO is also entitled to compensation pay equivalent to six 
months’ salary. The CEO does not have additional pension plans. 

Board and management shareholdings 

Below are the holdings of Nixu's Board of Directors, CEO, and the Corporate Leadership team’s members 
in Nixu:

Name Role Shares
Jari Niska Chairman of the Board 2,753
Marko Kauppi Vice-Chairman of the Board 18,424

Through Tenendum Oy 248,800
Kati Hagros Member of the Board 4,854
Joakim Karske Member of the Board 9,000
Anders Silwer Member of the Board 1,615
   Through Anders Silwer AB 750

Teemu Salmi CEO 22,000
Janne Kärkkäinen CFO, deputy CEO 7,922
Björn-Erik Karlsson SVP Expert Services 1,211
Jan Mickos SVP Managed Services 2,062
Nathalie van Delden CPO 0
Valtteri Peltomäki SVP Client Experience 9,254
Pietari Sarjakivi SVP Labs 8,074

D-23



   ANNUAL REVIEW    FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated Financial Statement

25

   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Section 4: Acquisitions and group structure 
This section provides information on Nixu’s group structure, the acquisitions done during the 
reporting period, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as well as the goodwill and other 
intangible assets recognized related to the acquisitions.

•	 Acquisitions

•	 Intangible assets including goodwill impairment testing

•	 Group structure

4.1	Acquisitions

There were no acquisitions during the review period.

4.2	 Intangible assets, including goodwill impairment testing

EUR thousand Goodwill Customer relationships Other intangible assets Total
2022
Cost at 1 January 15,066 4,626 393 20,086

Disposals -8 -8
Exchange differences -476 -162 0 -629
Cost at 31 December 14,599 4,464 385 19,448

Accumulated amortization and impairment at 1 January 2,453 2,541 385 5,380
Amortization 0 387 0 387
Exchange differences -81 -89 0 -170
Accumulated amortization and impairment at 31 December 2,372 2,840 385 5,597

Net book amount at 1 January 12,613 2,085 8 14,706
Net book amount at 31 December 12,227 1,624 0 13,851

EUR thousand Goodwill Customer relationships Other intangible assets Total
2021
Cost at 1 January 15,192 4,670 385 20,247

Additions 8 8
Exchange differences -126 -43 0 -169
Cost at 31 December 15,066 4,626 393 20,086

Accumulated amortization and impairment at 1 January 2,476 2,160 385 5,021
Amortization 0 399 0 399
Exchange differences -22 -18 0 -40
Accumulated amortization and impairment at 31 December 2,453 2,541 385 5,380

Net book amount at 1 January 12,716 2,509 0 15,226
Net book amount at 31 December 12,613 2,085 8 14,706

The Group’s intangible assets comprise goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets such as licenses for computer software. 
Nixu utilizes in its cybersecurity services and continuous services mainly licensed technology and software provided by third parties.
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Accounting policy 

Goodwill represents the excess amount the Group 
has paid in acquiring a business over the fair value of 
the assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill is carried 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and 
is considered as having an indefinite useful economic 
life. It is allocated to the cash generating unit of which 
the acquisition forms part. Goodwill is not amortized 
and is tested for impairment at least annually or when 
there is an indication of impairment. 

Customer relationships, which are considered sep-
arately identifiable, are acquired assets obtained 
through business combinations and they are measured 
at fair value at the date of acquisition. Customer re-
lationships are subsequently carried at cost less accu-
mulated amortization and impairment losses. Customer 
relationships are amortized in 5 to 12 years. Amortiza-
tion period of customer relationships is based on the 
Nixu’s historical length of customer relationships and 
customer churn. All other intangible assets are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortization and impair-
ment losses. Other intangible assets are amortized in 3 
to 5 years.

Key solutions and estimates based on judgment

Nixu’s management has estimated the useful life of the cus-
tomer relationships recognized on the acquisitions. Useful 
lives are estimated at each balance sheet date and adjust-
ed when necessary. 

Goodwill impairment testing

The following table shows the goodwill allocated to each 
cash-generating unit of Nixu:

EUR thousand 31.12.2022 31.12.2021
Finland 3,157 3,157
Sweden 4,540 4,926
Denmark 4,530 4,530
Total goodwill 12,227 12,613

The key assumptions used in determining the recoverable 
cash flow of cash-generating units are as follows:

•	 The long-term growth rate of 2% (2%) has been used for 
all CGUs and reported periods.

•	  The pre-tax discount rates are shown below:

Finland Sweden Denmark
31.12.2022 12% 11% 12%
31.12.2021 10% 10% 11%

•	 The long-term EBITDA percentages are shown below: 

Finland Sweden Denmark
31.12.2022 11% 11% 8%
31.12.2021 11% 10% 9%

•	 Other key assumptions used in the periods presented 
were the average annual growth rate of net sales (10% 
-19%) and the average EBITDA margin (5%-10%). 

The recoverable cash flow based on value in use in 2022 ex-
ceeded the book value by EUR 45.9 (41.9) million in Finland, 
EUR 8.7 (5.0) million in Sweden and EUR 3.3 (3.6) million in Den-
mark. The terminal period’s share of the accumulated cash 
flows was 76% in Sweden and 78% in Denmark.

The company has followed caution in its forecasts by low-
ering the growth rate of 2023 due to the general economic 
situation.

Sensitivity 

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit in Swe-
den would be equal to its book value as of December 31, 
2022 if any of the key assumptions changed as follows (with 
other assumptions remaining unchanged):

•	 the average annual growth rate of revenue would have 
dropped from 19% to -2%; or

•	 the long-term EBITDA margin would have dropped from 
11% to 5%

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit in Den-
mark would be equal to its book value as of December 31, 
2022 if any of the key assumptions changed as follows (with 
other assumptions remaining unchanged):

•	 the average annual growth rate of revenue would have 
dropped from 12% to 1%; or

•	 the long-term EBITDA margin would have dropped from 
8% to 5%

Goodwill arose from the acquisitions carried out in previous 
financial years.

Key solutions and estimates based on judgment 

Management makes significant estimates and judgements 
in determining the level at which the goodwill is allocated 
to and in assessing the carrying value of goodwill. Nixu tests 
goodwill annually and other intangible assets when there 
is an indication that the assets may be impaired (assessed 
at least each reporting date). The goodwill is allocated to 
groups of cash-generating units, which are the operating 
segments of Nixu, reflecting the lowest levels at which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of CGU’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use calcula-
tions are based on discounted cash flows expected to arise 
from the goodwill.

Key estimates and judgement related to value in use calcu-
lations is presented below:

•	 forecasting of future cash flows – these are based on the 
Nixu’s latest approved internal five year forecasts and re-
flect expectations of revenue growth, operating expens-
es, EBITDA margin, capital expenditure and cash flows, 
based on past experience and management’s expecta-
tion of future market changes.

•	 discount rates applied to those cash flows - pre-tax dis-
count rates used are the weighted average expense of 
capital determined by current market inputs and adjust-
ed for the risks specific to the CGU. The adjusted after-tax 
discount rate is translated to a pre-tax rate for each cash 
generating unit (CGU) based on the specific tax rate ap-
plicable to where the CGU operates.

•	 the expected long-term growth rates - cash flows beyond 
the five year period (after year 2028) are extrapolated us-
ing estimated growth rates. The growth rates are based on 
the expected long-term performance of each CGU in their 
respective market and are consistent with the long-term 
average growth rates of the cyber security service market.
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Subsidiaries:  
Accounting policy

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. 
Control exists when the Company is exposed to, or has 
the rights to, variable returns from its involvement with an 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. The financial statements of sub-
sidiaries are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances and any unrealized gains and 
losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidat-
ed financial statements.

Assets and liabilities in subsidiaries are translated into 
euro at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
Income and expenses in subsidiaries are translated into 
euro using an average rate. Translation differences that 
arise when translating the financial statements of sub-
sidiaries are recognized in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a separate component of equity, 
called translation differences. 

Foreign currency denominated transactions are trans-
lated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or if 
items have been revalued, at the measurement dates 
exchange rates. Foreign exchange gains and losses aris-
ing in respect of business operations, such as sales and 
purchases, are recognized in operating result. Foreign 
exchange differences arising from financial instruments 
are recognized in finance expenses.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidat-
ed entities are allocated their share of net profit after tax 
in the income statement, and are identified separately 
from the Group’s equity in those entities. 

Estimates and judgements are subject to change as a result 
of changing economic and operational conditions. Actual 
cash flows may therefore differ from forecasts and could re-
sult in changes in the recognition of impairment charges in 
future periods.

Goodwill’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable 
amount if goodwill’s carrying amount is greater than its esti-
mated recoverable amount. An impairment loss recognized 
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. Any im-
pairment charge is recognized in the income statement if the 
carrying amount of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Other intangible assets are tested by assessing the recover-
able amount of each individual asset or, if this is not possible, 
then the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit 
(CGU) to which the asset belongs. CGUs are the lowest levels 
at which assets are grouped and generate separately iden-
tifiable cash flows.

4.3	 Group structure

 Parent Group
 Proportion, % Proportion, %
Subsidiaries:
Nixu Certification Oy 100% 100%
Nixu B.V 100% 100%
Nixu Cybersecurity SRL 4% 100%
Nixu AB 100% 100%
Nixu A/S 100% 100%

Subsidiaries are all acquired in 2016, 2017 and 2019, excluding Nixu 
Certification Oy and Nixu B.V., the company’s own subsidiaries. 
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Section 5: Interest-bearing net debt and equity 

This section provides information how the Group manages its capital structure and financing, including its exposure to risks:

•	 Borrowings 

•	 Derivative financial instruments

•	 Cash and cash equivalents

•	 Finance income and expenses

•	 Financial risk and capital management

•	 Equity

The interest rates on the loans ranged from 2.75% to 3.95%, 
with the capitalized interest rate for a EUR 2,230 thousand 
portion at 3.80% on the period ended December 31, 2022.

The company has a total of two credit facilities of EUR 1,500 
thousand and EUR 4,000 thousand. The EUR 4,000 thousand 
credit facility matures on April 30, 2023. A total of EUR 981 
thousand of the credit facilities were in use at the end of the 
accounting period on December 31, 2022.

The loan drawn in 2019 is being paid in half-yearly instalments 
and will mature on March 28, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, 
the outstanding amount was EUR 313 (938) thousand. The  
most significant covenants for the loans and credit facilities are 
as follows: equity ratio at least 32%. The formula for calculat-
ing the equity ratio differs from the official calculation formula. 
The Group’s interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA indicator will be 
reviewed every six months on June 30 and December 31. The 
net debt-to-EBITDA ratio may not exceed 3.25 up to the review 
date of December 31, 2022, and 3.0 up to subsequent review 
dates. Formula for calculating net debt and equity ratio devi-
ates from the official definition in the covenant calculation in 
that loan three is counted as equity instead of debt.

The Group met the covenant conditions related to the loans 
on December 31, 2022. As the covenant conditions were met 
on December 31, 2022, the loans were classified as non-cur-
rent and current. The loan of EUR 2,130 thousand drawn in 
2017 (loan 3) is maturing within 12 months, which is classified 
under current liabilities. According to management’s estima-
tion, the liquidity level is sufficient. For more information on 
short-term loans and covenants related to loan agreements, 
see Section 5.3 of the notes. Financial risk and capital man-
agement - liquidity risk.

The fair value of the loans does not materially differ from their 
book value because the financing agreement of loans matur-
ing in 2026 was renegotiated in spring 2022. The company’s risk 
premium has not changed significantly after taking out loans. 
The fair values of Nixu loans are based on cash flows discount-
ed using the current loan rate. The different terms of the loans 
(maturity, seniority, collateral) are taken into account when 
determining the value. Loans are classified in Level 2 of the fair 
value hierarchy because the fair value measurement is mainly 
based on a market interest rate curve. 

5.1  Net interest-bearing debt

Nixu’s Net Debt Position: 

 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
EUR thousand Carrying value Carrying value 
Non-current borrowings
Loans from financial institutions 1,622 2,365
Lease liabilities 531 900
Total non-current borrowings 2,153 3,265
Loans from financial institutions 3,690 2,686
Lease liabilities 918 1,366
Total current borrowings 4,608 4,052
Total borrowings 6,762 7,317
Less cash and cash equivalents 3,562 4,080
Net debt 3,199 3,237

Borrowings

On December 31, 2022, Nixu’s loans from financial institutions consisted of variable and fixed-rate loans amounting to EUR 5,900 thou-
sand, drawn in connection with the 2017 financing arrangement, and a variable-rate loan of EUR 2,500 thousand drawn in 2019. Nixu 
renegotiated the financing agreement for a EUR 2,065 thousand bullet loan withdrawn in 2017 in April 2022. EUR 1,032 thousand of 
this loan will remain as a bullet loan whose maturation date has been postponed until May 30, 2026, while EUR 1,033 thousand of the 
loan will be paid off in quarterly instalments. In the financing agreement, an interest rate collar connected to a reference rate was 
agreed on for the loan. At the same time, the credit facility of EUR 4,000 thousand was extended until April 30, 2023.

The table below provides information on loans (loans are undiscounted): 

EUR thousand Drawn down Maturity Interest rate Installment
Remaining debt 

31 Dec 22
Remaining debt 

31 Dec 21
Loan 1 a 2022/2017 5/30/26 3.95%+6 month euribor quarterly 895 0
Loan 1 b 2022/2017 5/30/26 3.95%+6 month euribor bullet 1,032 2,065
Loan 2 2019 3/28/23 2.75%+6 month euribor half-on-year 313 938
Loan 3 2017 5/30/23 3.8%+3.8% bullet 2,130 2,052
Total 4,370 5,055

D-27



   ANNUAL REVIEW    FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated Financial Statement

29

   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Accounting policy

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the re-
demption amount is recognized in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method. Fair value, which is determined for disclosure 
purposes, is calculated based on the present value of 
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at 
the market rate of interest at the reporting date. Bor-
rowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period.

Derivative financial instruments

As part of its business operations, the Group is a party to deriv-
ative contracts designed to hedge against exposure to inter-
est rate fluctuations in accordance with the Group’s financial 
risk management principles (see “Financial risk and capital 
management”). 

At the point of the Financial Statement, the Group has an 
interest rate collar connected to a reference rate agreed on 
for the loan which is valid for 4 years starting from May 30, 
2022. The interest rate collar concerns loan (loan 1a and 1b) 
which was renegotiated in 2022. During the term of the in-
terest rate collar, the minimum level of the reference interest 
rate on the debt is 1.12% and the maximum level is 2.80%. 
The interest rate cap does not have a protective effect in the 
2022 financial year. At the point of the Financial Statement, 
the Group does not have an interest rate swap on December 
31, 2022 (December 31, 2022 one interest swap contract).

Accounting policy

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the 
date a derivative contract is entered into and are sub-
sequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of 
each reporting period. 

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a 
non-current asset or liability when the remaining ma-
turity of the hedged item is more than 12 months; it is 
classified as a current asset or liability when the remain-
ing maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. 
Derivatives are classified as held for trading. 

The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by 
discounting estimated future cash flows based on the 
terms and maturity of each contract and using market 
rates at the measurement date.

Cash and cash equivalents 

Nixu’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and de-
mand deposits with MFIs. Nixu’s cash and cash equivalents as 
of December 31, 2022 amounted to EUR 3,562 (4,080) thou-
sand.

Accounting policy

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, de-
posits held at call with financial institutions, and other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original matur-
ities of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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Net Debt Reconciliation

EUR thousand
Cash and cash  

equivalents
Other borrowings  
due within 1 year

Other borrowings  
due after 1 year

Lease liabilities  
due within 1 year

Lease liabilities  
due after 1 year

Total net 
 debt

1 Jan 2021 6,031 621 4,971 1,237 1,447 2,244
Cash flows -1,921 -625 -1,398 -102
Foreign exchange adjustment -30 30
Other non-cash movements 2,690 -2,606 1,527 -547 1,064
31 Dec 2021 4,080 2,686 2,364 1,367 900 3,237
Cash flows -415 218 -1,397 -764
Foreign exchange adjustment -103 103
Other non-cash movements 786 -742 949 -368 624
31 Dec 2022 3,562 3,690 1,622 918 531 3,199
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5.3	 Financial Risk and  
Capital Management 

Nixu’s activities expose it to foreign currency risk, interest rate 
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Nixu’s financial team manag-
es the risk by identifying, evaluating and hedging financial 
risk arising from financial markets, customer transactions and 
liquidity requirements. 

The Board of Directors provides principles for overall risk man-
agement, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as 
interest rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative financial in-
struments. 

Currency Risk 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from primarily with respect to the Swed-
ish krona and US dollar. The Group has a subsidiary in Den-
mark, but the Danish krone is pegged to the euro at a fixed 
rate that can only fluctuate slightly.  Foreign exchange risk 
arises from future commercial transactions, recognized assets 
and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. For-

eign exchange risk arises when future commercial transac-
tions or recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. Exposure 
to foreign exchange risk has been limited and Nixu’s finance 
team monitors the changes in the situation. 

Group companies’ sales and purchases are mainly denom-
inated in the Group’s operating currencies. The Group’s ex-
posure to currency risk arising from business transactions has 
been limited. The Group is exposed to currency changes in 
the U.S. Dollar, especially as a result of USD sales to the US by 
Nixu’s Denmark subsidiary and the parent company. There 
are some pound sterling purchases mainly by Danish subsidi-
ary. The Group does not actively use derivative instruments to 
hedge against currency risk.

If the euro had weakened / strengthened against the US dol-
lar by 10% on December 31, 2022, with all other factors re-
maining unchanged, the recalculated net profit after taxes 
would have been EUR 3 (4) thousand higher / lower, mainly 
due to USD trade receivables of 476 (35) thousand dollars 
and of a USD 2 (29) in bank account balance in the parent 
company and Danish subsidiary.

On December 31, 2022, the parent company had SEK 5,209 
(737) thousand domestic receivables. The Group’s Swedish 
subsidiary had euro-denominated liabilities EUR 1,270 (1,273) 
thousand on December 31, 2022. Exposure to Swedish krona 
foreign exchanges on December 31, 2022 has been noted in 
profit or loss. 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

Nixu’s interest rate risk arises from variable rate long-term bor-
rowings. Loans with variable interest rate exposes the Group 
to cash flow interest rate risk. In April 2022, in the re-negotiated 
financing agreement interest rate swap contract (December 
31, 2021, one interest rate swap contract) was changed to 
interest rate collar. Fixed-rate loans expose Nixu to fair value 
interest rate risk. 

The figures presented in the table are contract-based, undis-
counted figures.

5.2	 Financial income and expenses

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Finance income
Interest income 1 21
Other finance income 0 6
Finance income total 1 27

Finance expenses
Foreign exchange losses on financing activities -1 -15
Interest on borrowings -444 -377
Fair value losses on derivatives 0 20
Other finance costs -76 -81
Finance expenses total -521 -453
 Interest expenses on lease payments
 Interest expenses on lease payments -61 -87
 Interest expenses on lease payments total -61 -87

Finance income and expenses total -580 -514
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If interest rates on December 31, 2022 had been higher than 
100 basis points, all other factors remaining unchanged, the 
result for the period after taxes would have been EUR 5 (14) 
thousand as a result of higher interest expenses on floating 
rate loans and lower. The interest rate sensitivity has been de-
termined by shifting the interest rate curve by 100 basis points.
In the sensitivity analysis, it has been noted that on December 
31, 2022, interest rate hedged portion of variable interest rate 
borrowings is a total value of EUR 1,927 (0) thousand and in-
terest rate swaps had a total nominal value of EUR 0 (2,065) 
thousand which reduced sensitivity to interest rate fluctua-
tions. The interest rate position includes all external floating 
rate liabilities.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents and 
credit exposures to customers from outstanding receivables. 
Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is managed at group 
level. Cash and cash equivalents are held mainly in reputa-
ble Nordic banks. Each local entity is responsible for man-
aging the credit risk for their accounts receivable balances. 
The local entities have the responsibility to analyze the credit 
standing of clients with revenue less set limit before standard 
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. 

Credit risk countering payment methods such as advance 
payments are used in high risk clients. Historically credit losses 
have been insignificant. 

The maximum exposure to the credit risk at the reporting 
dates are the carrying values of each class of financial assets 
mentioned above. 

For information regarding the credit losses recognized and 
the ageing of the trade receivables, refer to 7.1 Trade and 
other receivables.

Liquidity risk

Nixu monitors the Group’s liquidity needs monthly to ensure 
that sufficient cash is available to meet the needs of the busi-
ness and, at the same time, to constantly maintain a sufficient 
number of undrawn committed credit facilities. The amount 
of cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2022 was EUR 
3,562 (4,080) thousand. In addition, the Group has unutilized 
committed credit facilities totaling EUR 4,519 (5,500) thousand 
as of December 31, 2022. In terms of future payments, the 
most important source of financing is cash flows from opera-
tions and liquid assets, combined with potential new or equity 
financing.

The Group’s additional cash reserves are not actively invest-
ed. Nixu’s goal is both organic and structural growth, and 
cash is used for this purpose. 

The most significant covenants for the credit facility and loans 
are as follows: equity ratio at least 32%. The formula for cal-
culating the equity ratio differs from the official calculation 
formula. According to the calculation formula used in cov-

enants, the equity ratio December 31, 2022 was 36% (36,5%). 
The Group’s interest-bearing net debt/EBITDA covenant the 
net debt-to-EBITDA ratio may not exceed 3.25 up to the re-
view date of December 31, 2022, and 3.0 up to subsequent 
review dates. Formula for calculating net debt and equity ra-
tio deviates from the official definition. According to the cal-
culation formula used in covenants, the ratio December 31, 
2022, was 0.4 (0.8). Formula for calculating net debt and eq-
uity ratio deviates from the official definition in the covenant 
calculation in that loan three is counted as equity instead of 
debt.

The Group met the covenant conditions related to the loans 
on December 31, 2022. As the covenant conditions were met 
on December 31, 2022, the loans were classified as non-current 
and current. The EUR 2,130 thousand bullet loan (loan 3) raised 
in 2017 matures in accordance with the agreement within 12 
months, in which case it is classified as fully current. According 
to management´s assessment Nixu´s liquidity level is sufficient.

Capital management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to fi-
nance the growth in line with Nixu’s strategy, provide returns 
for shareholders and safeguard the Group’s ability to contin-
ue as a going concern.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, re-

Interest rate risk

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Variable interest rate borrowings 2,240 3,003
Fixed interest rate borrowings 2,130 2,052
Total 4,370 5,055

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Variable interest rate borrowings 2,240 3,003
 Interest rate hedged portion of variable interest rate borrowings 1,927 0
Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) 0 2,065
Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 313 938

In the financial periods presented in the financial statements, the Group’s loans were mainly denominated in Euros.
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turn capital to shareholders and issue new shares. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the equity ratio. 
The equity ratio is calculated as shareholders’ equity divided 
by total assets less advances received. As at December 31, 
2022 Nixu’s equity ratio was 30.6% (31.5%). Company’s goal is 
to keep equity ratio at least in level of 30%.

The capital structure shall secure Nixu’s debt financing being 
in line with covenants. Planned structure should take into ac-
count both current and future business needs, as well as en-

sure competitive cost of financing. 

Cooperation with banks is based on long-term banking re-
lationships. In the long term the goal is to service Nixu’s loan 
obligations by operating cash flow. During the phase of rapid 
growth, capital may be acquired both equity and debt fi-
nancing term.

The following table shows the Group’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities and derivative liabilities broken down by relevant ma-
turity groupings based on the amount of remaining contractu-
al maturity at the balance sheet date. The figures presented in 

the table are contract-based, undiscounted figures.

EUR thousand Under 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Over 5 years
Contractual undiscounted  

cash flows Carrying value
31 Dec 2022  
Non-derivatives  
Loans from financial institutions 3,699 275 1,377 5,351 5,342
Lease liabilitites 956 416 135 1,506 1,449
Trade payables and other payables* 4,249 4,249 4,249
Total 8,904 691 1,511 0 11,106 11,041
Estimated interest payments 185 96 106 386
Total 9,088 787 1,617 0 11,492 11,041

* Excluding non-financial items

EUR thousand Under 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years Over 5 years
Contractual undiscounted  

cash flows Carrying value
31 Dec 2021  
Non-derivatives  
Loans from financial institutions 2,690 2,365 5,055 5,055
Lease liabilitites 1,400 802 151 2,353 2,266
Trade payables and other payables* 4,812 4,812 4,812
Total 8,902 3,167 151 0 12,220 12,133
Estimated interest payments 192 87 279
Total 9,094 3,254 151 0 12,499 12,133
Derivatives
Interest rate swaps 10 10 10
Total 10 0 0 0 10 10

* Excluding non-financial items
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5.4  Equity

Nixu has one share series. Each share entitles the holder to 
equal voting and dividend rights. The company’s shares are 
listed on the Official List of Nasdaq Helsinki. 

The table below shows the number of outstanding shares 
during the reporting periods: 

Number of shares
1 Jan 2021  7,402,814 
Transfer of own shares 20,879
31 Dec 2021 7,423,693
Purchase of shares 22,000
31 Dec 2022 7,445,693

The table below shows the changes in the company’s own 
shares:

EUR thousand 2022 2021

At 1 January 1,526 22,405
Purchase of own shares 0 0
Transfer of own shares 0 -20,879
At 31 December 1,526 1,526

During the financial year 2021, transfer of own shares were 
related to MSP program of the personnel.

The invested unrestricted equity reserve 

On February 28, 2022, the Board of Directors of Nixu Corpora-
tion has resolved a directed share issue and a matching share 
plan “Matching Share Plan 2022” to the new CEO, Teemu Sal-
mi. The CEO subscribed for 22,000 new shares of Nixu Corpo-
ration with the subscription price, confirmed by the Board of 
Directors of Nixu Corporation, of EUR 5.67 per share. The total 
subscription price of the new shares, EUR 125 thousand, was 
recorded in its entirety to the invested unrestricted equity of 
the company. The new Nixu Corporation shares have been 
registered in the Trade Register on May 12, 2022. Further in-
formation on the directed share issue and a matching share 
plan “Matching Share Plan 2022” is presented in Note 3.2.

Accumulated translation differences

This reserve includes the foreign currency differences arising 
from the translation of foreign operations. 

Accounting policy

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental ex-
penses directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the parent 
company’s shares (treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable incremental 
costs (net of tax), is deducted from equity attributable 
to the owners of the parent company until the shares 
are canceled or reissued. Where such shares are sub-
sequently reissued, any consideration received, net of 
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs 
and the related income tax effects, is included in equity 
attributable to the owners of the parent company.

Invested unrestricted equity fund includes, subject to 
the Companies Act, the subscription price of the invest-
ments made by the shareholders to the Company un-
less otherwise decided by the Company.

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend de-
clared, being appropriately authorized and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of 
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of 
the reporting period. 
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Section 6: Non-financial assets and liabilities 

This section provides information about the group´s non-financial assets and liabilities, including;

•	 Tangible assets, right-of-use-assets including depreciations and finance leases

•	 Lease liabilities

6.1  Tangible assets, including depreciation

EUR thousand Machinery and equipment Other tangible assets Right-of-use assets Total
2022
Cost at 1 January 1,983 572 6,452 9,006
Additions 0 9 752 762
Disposals 0 0 -357 -357
Exchange differences -7 0 -109 -116
Cost at 31 December 1,976 581 6,737 9,294

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January 1,753 549 4,313 6,615
Depreciation 103 11 1,344 1,458
Disposals 0 0 -277 -277
Exchange differences -7 0 -78 -85
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 1,849 560 5,302 7,711

Net book amount at 1 January 230 23 2,139 2,392
Net book amount at 31 December 127 21 1,435 1,583

EUR thousand Machinery and equipment Other tangible assets Right-of-use assets Total
2021
Cost at 1 January 1,991 572 5,731 8,294
Additions 10 0 1,206 1,215
Disposals -20 0 -461 -481
Exchange differences 2 0 -24 -22
Cost at 31 December 1,983 572 6,452 9,006

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 1 January 1,620 539 3,176 5,335
Depreciation 131 9 1,376 1,517
Disposals 0 0 -225 -225
Exchange differences 2 0 -15 -13
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 31 December 1,753 549 4,313 6,615

Net book amount at 1 January 372 32 2,555 2,959
Net book amount at 31 December 230 23 2,139 2,392

D-34



   ANNUAL REVIEW    FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated Financial Statement

36

   CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Accounting policy

Tangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and possible impairment. The useful lives 
of tangible assets are 3–10 years. The useful life of an 
asset is reviewed at least at the end of each financial 
year and adjusted, if appropriate. Sales gains and losses 
on disposal or transfer of tangible assets are presented 
in other operating income and expenses. Sales gains 
or losses are calculated as the difference between the 
sales price and the remaining acquisition cost. 

Right-of-use assets are capitalized at the commence-
ment date of the lease and comprise the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted by lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date. Direct costs in-
curred from obtaining the lease are deducted, as well 
as any rent-free months or other discounts.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated on a 
straight-line basis from the commencement date of the 
lease either by the end of the estimated useful life of 
the right-of-use asset or by the end of the lease term, 
whichever is the earlier. Right-of-use assets are addition-
ally adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease 
liability.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the commence-
ment date at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, discounted at the Group’s incremental bor-
rowing rate. The applicable lease term corresponds to 
the period during which the lease is non-cancellable, 
except when the Group is reasonably certain to exer-
cise the renewal option or extend the contract. Lease 
liabilities are recognized at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Lease liabilities are mainly 
remeasured when future lease payments change due 
to index or interest rate changes, or when the Group’s 
estimate of the use of a possible extension option 
changes. When a lease liability is remeasured, the car-
rying amount of the right-of-use asset is usually adjusted 
accordingly.

6.2  Leased assets

Nixu’s leased assets consist of leased office premises. The 
lengths of leases vary from country to country. Company em-
ployees are entitled to a leased car as an employee bene-
fit. The leases are typically for three to four years. In Benelux, 
some cars are leased for less than a year and are not capi-
talized on the balance sheet. Laptops are generally leased, 
with a typical lease period of two years. 

Mobile devices are classified as low-value and are not capi-
talized on the balance sheet. Contracts classified as service 
contracts are not treated as right-of-use assets.

Managerial discretion

The Group has decided not to record right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for short-term leases with a maximum contract 
term of 12 months, and contracts with low value assets. The 
Group interprets low-value asset relief to apply to contracts in 
which the asset is not material to Nixu a straight-line basis as 

permitted by IFRS 16. Low-value items mainly include mobile 
phones, small office spaces, and other low value items. The 
Group recognizes the lease payments related to these con-
tracts as expenses in equal installments over the lease term. 
In addition, the Group has made an ex-post evaluation of the 
lease term if the lease includes an option to extend. 

Accounting policy

Short-term leases with a maximum contract term of 12 
months, and contracts with low value assets are not re-
corded in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 

The portion paid for the interest of the lease liability is 
presented as part of the cash flow from operating ac-
tivities and the portion paid for the capital of the lease 
liability is presented as part of the financing cash flow.
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EUR thousand Properties Cars IT equipment Total right-of-use assets
1 Jan 2022 3,522 1,579 1,351 6,452
Increases 159 347 246 752
Decreases -355 -2 -357
Exchange differences -91 -8 -10 -109
31 Dec 2022 3,590 1,563 1,585 6,737
Accumulated depreciations:
1 Jan 2022 2,277 1,028 1,008 4,313
Depreciation for the period 826 280 238 1,344
Accumulated depreciations on disposals -277 -277
Exchange differences -64 -6 -8 -78
31 Dec 2022 3,039 1,025 1,239 5,302
 
Net book amount at 1 January 1,246 551 343 2,139
Net book amount at 31 December 552 538 346 1,435

The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss shows the following depreciation charges relating to these leases:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Properties 826 827
Cars 280 323
IT equipment 238 226
Depreciation charge right-of-use assets 1,344 1,376

Amounts recognised in the income statement:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Interest on lease liabilities -61 -87
Expenses relating to short-term or low value assets -187 -193

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows:

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Interest expenses (cash flows from operating activities) -61 -87
Lease liability payment (cash flows from financing activities) -1,397 -1,398
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Section 7: Operating Assets and Liabilities 

This section provides information on the operating assets used and the operating liabilities incurred by the Group 

•	 Trade and other receivables

•	 Trade and other payables

Accounting policy

Trade receivables are initially recorded at the transac-
tion price, and later they are valued at amortized cost 
determined using the effective interest method, less 
expected credit losses. The expected credit losses of 
trade receivables are estimated based on an indepen-
dent and comprehensive review of the receivables at 
the end of the year using a forward-looking provision 
model for expected credit losses. Regarding trade re-
ceivables, the simplified approach in accordance with 
IFRS 9 is followed, according to which expected credit 
losses are recorded on the basis of probable lifetime 
credit losses in the income statement under other busi-
ness expenses. For those receivables whose payments 
have not been neglected, expected credit losses are 
estimated based on data describing customer credit 
loss probabilities produced by an external service pro-
vider, which is used in the expected credit loss calcula-
tion model.

The model of expected credit losses in accounts re-
ceivable also takes into account a macroeconomic 
indicator, which takes into account macroeconomic 
development and includes predictive information in 
the calculation model. The calculation model has ap-
plied the assumption that the customer’s insolvency is 
interpreted as occurring no earlier than 90 days after 
the receivable is due, and insolvency is estimated to 
normally occur when the payment of the trade receiv-
able is at least 90 days late or when there is other inde-
pendent evidence of insolvency. Generally, accounts 
receivable is due for payment within 30 to 90 days. They 
are classified as current assets, unless they are expect-
ed to be paid more than 12 months after the balance 
sheet date.

7.1	 Accounts receivable and other receivables

Current receivables

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Trade receivables and other receivables
Trade receivables 10,811 10,568
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 10,926 7,987
Rental deposits 1 0
Other receivables 167 178
Total 21,905 18,734

Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Employer's statutory insurance premiums 26 92
Work in progress 1,650 1,250
Maintenance charges related to licenses 6,885 5,761
Other items 2,366 2,134
Total 10,926 9,237

The age distribution of the Group’s trade receivables as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021: The share of prepayments EUR 
1,874 thousand have not been deducted from the age distribution of trade receivables table below. Prepayments are included in pre-
paid expenses and accrued income.

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Not due 10,399 10,216
Overdue by
1–30 days 1,810 1,491
31–60 days 239 105
61–90 days 186 317
over 90 days 50 92
Total 12,685 12,221

Impairment on trade receivables amounted to EUR 0 (-10) thousand on December 31, 2022.
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Accounting policy

Accounts payable and other financial liabilities in-
cluded in the item are classified as financial liabilities 
valued at amortized cost. They are initially recorded 
at fair value and later valued at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. The accounting values 
of accounts payable and other liabilities are seen to 
correspond to their fair value due to their short maturity. 
Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
They represent liabilities for goods and services provid-
ed to the Group prior to the end of the reporting period 
that are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are 
paid in accordance with the Group’s terms of trade. 
Trade and other payables are presented as current lia-
bilities unless payment is not due within twelve months 
after the reporting period.

7.2	 Accounts payable and other debts

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Trade payables and other payables
Trade payables 4,137 4,700
Accrued expenses 14,913 12,490
Derivative financial instruments 0 10
Other current liabilities 2,533 2,880
Total 21,583 20,080

Material items under accrued expenses
Accrued personnel expenses 5,211 4,429
Accrued interests 112 112
Contract liabilities 9,043 7,481
Other accruals 547 469
Total 14,913 12,490

Material items under current liabilities
Value added tax 1,701 1,581
Withholding tax and social insurance contributions 673 825
Other current liabilities 159 474
Total 2,533 2,880
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Section 8: Other notes

This section contains information that the Group needs to 
present in order to comply with accounting standards, but 
which are not considered significant for understanding the 
Group’s financial position and performance:

•	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

•	 Related party transactions

•	 Contingent items and commitments, including leases 

•	 New standards

•	 Later events

8.1	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Accounting policy

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liabil-
ity method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. De-
ferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from 
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax 
is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recogni-
tion of an asset or liability in a transaction other than 
a business combination that at the time of the trans-
action affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability 
is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it 
is probable that future taxable amounts will be avail-
able to utilize those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations 
where the Company is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable 
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances re-
late to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets 
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a le-
gally enforceable right to offset and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.
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Deferred tax assets and debts 

EUR thousand At 1 Jan Recognized in profit or loss
Additions of lease agreements 

during the period
Exchange rate  

differences At 31 Dec
2022
Deferred tax assets
Lease liabilities 459 -302 144 -7 294
Tax losses 393 66 459
Other items 21 5 27
Total 873 -230 144 -7 780
Netting of deferred taxes -704 -511
Deferred tax assets, net 170 269

EUR thousand At 1 Jan Recognized in profit or loss
Additions of lease agreements 

during the period
Exchange rate  

differences At 31 Dec
2022
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets 438 -36 -17 385
Right-of-use assets 434 -280 144 -6 292
Borrowings 1 7 8
Other items 26 -16 10
Total 899 -325 144 -23 696
Netting of deferred taxes -704 -511
Deferred tax liabilities, net 195 185
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Key solutions and estimates based on judgment: rec-
ognition of deferred tax assets

Judgement is required in assessing whether deferred tax 
assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognized on 
the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets are recognized only 
where it is considered more likely than not that they will be re-
covered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient 
future taxable profits. Assumptions about the generation of 
future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates 
of future cash flows that relate among others to the amount 

of future revenue, operating costs and finance costs. The 
Group’s ability to generate taxable income depends also 
on factors related to general economy, finance, competi-
tiveness and regulations that the Group is unable to control. 
These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and un-
certainty, hence it is possible that changes in circumstanc-
es will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognized on 
the balance sheet and the amount of other tax losses and 
temporary differences not yet recognized. 

8.2	 Related Party Transactions

Related parties of the Group consist of the parent compa-
ny and Group companies mentioned in note 4.3. Related 
parties are also key management personnel and their close 
family members as well as entities controlled by them. Key 
management personnel are the members of the Board of Di-
rectors, CEO and Group’s Corporate Leadership Team. The 
remuneration of the key management personnel including 
their ownership in Nixu is presented in note 3.3. For information 
on loans granted to personnel in connection with a share is-
sue 2019, see note 3.2 Employee share-based incentive plan. 

EUR thousand At 1 Jan
Recognized in  

profit or loss
Additions of lease agreements 

during the period Exchange rate differences At 31 Dec
2021
Deferred tax assets
Borrowings 541 -326 246 -2 459
Tax losses 323 70 0 393
Other items 18 3 0 21
Total 883 -253 246 -2 873
Netting of deferred taxes -821 -704
Deferred tax assets, net 62 170

EUR thousand At 1 Jan
Recognized in  

profit or loss
Additions of lease agreements 

during the period Exchange rate differences At 31 Dec
2021
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets 479 -36 -5 438
Tangible assets 516 -326 246 -2 434
Borrowings 3 -2 0 1
Other items 39 -13 0 26
Total 1,036 -377 246 -6 899
Netting of deferred taxes -821 -704
Deferred tax liabilities, net 215 195

The Group’s operations in the Netherlands and Sweden have been unprofitable. On 31 December 2022, realized losses amounted to EUR 9,220 (9,639) thousand, of which unrecognized deferred tax assets 
amounted to EUR 1,529 (1,947) thousand. The losses will not due. In previous years, Nixu A/S has been unprofitable. Deferred tax assets of EUR 209 (393) thousand have been recognized. 
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8.3	 Contingent items and commitments, including leases

Guarantees and contingent liabilities granted 

EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Mortgages given on own behalf:
Business mortgages 10,118 10,118

Loan amount1 4,370 4,938

Other commitments
EUR thousand 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Rental deposits 265 265

1) Business mortgages of Nixu Oyj and shares of Nixu Ab (100 pcs) and Nixu A/S (100pcs) were used as collateral for Nixu Corporation’s 4.4 
MEUR financial institution loan and 5.5 MEUR credit limit. At the end of the review period, a total of EUR 981 thousand of the credit facilities were 
in use.

Purchase of goods and services

EUR thousand 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Purchases of services 2 2

Nixu has purchased training services from a related party of a related party. Purchased services have been purchased at market price. 
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8.4	 New and amended standards and  
interpretations adopted in 2022

The Group has applied new and amended starndards and interpretations 
which are effective from 1 January 2022. The IFRS standards and amend-
ments thereto that took effect in 2022 did not have a material impact on 
the result or the financial position of the Group or on the presentation of  
the financial statements.

8.5	 Events After the Accountind Period

Nixu updated its financial targets and refined its strategy. (Stock Exchange 
Release, on February 9, 2023).

DNV announced a voluntary recommended public cash tender for all 
shares and stock options in Nixu.

8.6	 Company information

Name of reporting entity or  
other means of identification	 Nixu Corporation

Explanation of Change in  
name of reporting entity 	 N/A

End of reporting period 	 31 Dec 2022

Domicile of entity	 Espoo

Legal form of entity	 Public limited Company

Country of incorporation	 Finland

Address of entity’s registered office	 Keilaranta 15 B, 02150 ESPOO	

Principal place of business	 Espoo

Name of parent entity	 Nixu Corporation

Name of ultimate parent of Group 	 Nixu Corporation
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Parent Company’s Income Statement

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
Notes EUR EUR

REVENUE 1. 39,370,233.49 35,100,034.08
Other operating income 2. 152,719.55 687,815.23

Materials and services 3.
Materials and services -11,170,216.90 -9,150,310.29
Materials and services in total -11,170,216.90 -9,150,310.29

Personnel costs 4.
Wages and salaries -18,750,855.04 -17,133,753.44
Social security costs

Pension costs -3,217,548.74 -2,933,098.08
Other social security costs -650,433.72 -597,496.30

Personnel costs in total -22,618,837.50 -20,664,347.82

Amortization and depreciation
Amortization and depreciation according to plan -375,335.70 -392,629.10

Amortization and depreciation in total -375,335.70 -392,629.10

Other operating expenses 5. -7,581,925.20 -5,614,078.83

OPERATING PROFIT -2,223,362.26 -33,516.73

Financial income and expenses 6.
From group companies 0.00 42,495.97
Receivables from non-group companies 365.90 6,394.46

Reduction in value of investments held as non-current assets 0.00
 Interest expenses and other financial expenses

Payables to non-group companies -542,649.56 -399,858.26
Financial income and expenses in total -542,283.66 -350,967.83

PROFIT BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES -2,765,645.92 -384,484.56

Appropriations

Change in cumulative accelerated depreciation 0.00 0.00
Intra-group financial transfer 7. 1,200,000.00 700,000.00

Income taxes 8. 5,315.98 -147,358.58

PROFIT FOR THE ACCOUNTING PERIOD -1,560,329.94 168,156.86
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Parent Company’s Balance Sheet

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Notes EUR EUR

ASSETS	
NON-CURRENT ASSETS	
Intangible assets	 9.

Other long-term expenditure 733,466.39 1,044,827.10
Intangible assets in total	 733,466.39 1,044,827.10

Tangible assets	 10.
Machinery and equipment 82,619.73 145,198.75
Tangible assets in total	 82,619.73 145,198.75

Investments	 11.
Shares in group companies 16,994,235.19 14,772,122.06

Other shares 70,900.00 30,133.15
Investments in total	 17,065,135.19 14,802,255.21

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IN TOTAL	 17,881,221.31 15,992,281.06

CURRENT ASSETS	
Receivables	 12.

Long-term receivables
Inter-company receivables 0.00 1,447,113.13
Other non-current receivables 210,578.80 210,578.80
Non-current receivables in total 210,578.80 1,657,691.93

Current receivables
Accounts receivable 7,035,452.73 5,682,688.74
Inter-company receivables 2,715,178.85 3,569,944.68
Other receivables 37,992.69 229,811.72
Prepayments and accrued income 5,926,061.09 4,621,724.89
Current receivables in total 15,714,685.36 14,104,170.03

Receivables in total	 15,925,264.16 15,761,861.96

Cash in hand and at bank	 209,979.68 1,388,750.02

CURRENT ASSETS IN TOTAL 16,135,243.84 17,150,611.98

ASSETS IN TOTAL 34,016,465.15 33,142,893.04

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021
Notes EUR EUR

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 13.

Share capital 94,821.20 94,821.20
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 19,497,088.40 19,372,348.40
Retained profit -3,199,273.28 -3,320,648.55
Profit for the accounting period -1,560,329.94 168,156.86

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 14,832,306.38 16,314,677.91

LIABILITIES 14.

Non-Current

Loans from financial institutions 1,651,996.36 2,364,958.31
Non-current liabilities in total 1,651,996.36 2,364,958.31
Current
Loans from financial institutions 3,699,263,51 2,690,000.00
Accounts payable 3,104,519.85 3,182,172.55
Inter-company liabilities 1,564,322.34 953,807.70
Other liabilities 1,435,823.14 1,465,554.24
Accruals and deferred income 7,728,233.57 6,171,722.33
Current liabilities in total 17,532,162.41 14,463,256.82

LIABILITIES 19,184,158.77 16,828,215.13

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES IN TOTAL 34,016,465.15 33,142,893.04
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Parent Company’s Cash Flow Statement

EUR EUR
1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes -2,764,963 -394,040
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 375,336 392,629
Unrealized foreign exchange differences 40,951 0
Other non-cash income and expenses -62,081 -1,859
Financial income and expenses 541,601 354,016
Change in working capital -505,050 205,060
Interest and other financial expenses paid -460,156 -363,099
Interest from operations received 366 275,507
Taxes paid 179,201 -907,101
Cash flow from operations -2,654,796 -438,887

Investments -767,219 -424,368

Cash flow from investments -767,219 -424,368

Proceeds from issues of shares 124,740 0
Proceeds from loans 980,976 0
Repayments of non-current loans -762,668 -625,000
Group contribution received 1,900,000 500,000
Repurchase of own shares 0 0
Net cash flow from financing 2,243,048 -125,000

Change in liquid assets -1,178,968 -988,255

Liquid assets at the beginning of the accounting period 1,388,750 2,379,356
Net increase/decrease in liquid assets 197 -2,351
Liquid assets at the end of the accounting period 209,980 1,388,750
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Accounting principles

Principles of valuation 

Tangible assets			 

Fixed assets are capitalized in the balance sheet at direct ac-
quisition cost less planned depreciation. The depreciation of 
the fixed assets is based on the depreciation schedule.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the es-
timated useful life of the fixed assets.		

	 Intangible assets

	 Intangible rights	 3 years

	 Other long term expenses	 5 years

	 Goodwill 	 10 years

	 Tangible assets

		 Machinery and equipment	 5 years

		 Furniture	 5 years

		 Vehicles	 5 years

Research and development expenses

R&D expenses are entered as expenses during the financial 
year in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency transactions

The valuation of the receivables and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies is based on the exchange rates quot-

ed by the European Central Bank on the reporting date. 

Derivative contracts and hedge accounting

Hedging instruments related to interest rates on finance com-
pany loans are measured at their fair value. Interest deriva-
tives are presented in financial items to the extent recognized 

in the income statement. 

Revenue

Annual support service agreements are accrued over the fi-
nancial year.

The principle of recognition according to the degree of com-
pletion shall be used for the recognition of long-term projects, 
provided that the separate margin of the contract can be 
assessed with sufficient accuracy. Part-recognition is made 
for the contract period according to the maturity of the proj-
ect, which is determined by cost monitoring. If estimates of 
the project’s end result change, the income-adjusted sales 
will be changed in the financial year in which the change is 
first known and estimated.

Impact in the financial reporting of the war in Ukraine, 
high inflation and increasing interest rates

The Group has estimated the possible effects of the war in 
Ukraine, high inflation and rising interest rates on financial re-
porting. In general, the war in Ukraine has not had a signif-
icant impact on Nixu’s figures and asset values in the 2022 
period. Nixu does not have any business in Russia, Belarus or 
in Ukraine, however some of Nixu’s clients are present in those 
countries.

General economic uncertainty, such as increasing interest 
rates and inflation, may have an effect on the demand of 
Nixu’s services, the company’s personnel costs and other 
costs.

The financial statements are available at the company’s of-
fice at Keilaranta 15, Espoo.
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Notes to the income statement

1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021
1. REVENUE BY MARKET AREA

Finland 33,387,399.77 29,413,828.56
Foreign markets 5,982,833.72 5,686,205.52

Total 39,370,233.49 35,100,034.08

Partial revenue recognition 2,820,873.83 3,525,844.94
% of revenue 7.16% 10.05%

2. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Grants from Business Finland and EU 55,240.00 53,811.00
Other income 97,479.55 634,004.23

Total 152,719.55 687,815.23

3. MATERIALS AND SERVICES
Externally sourced materials and services -11,170,216.90 -9,150,310.29

Total -11,170,216.90 -9,150,310.29

4. PERSONNEL COSTS

MANAGEMENT WAGES AND SALARIES
Members of the Board and CEO’s 442,035.93 449,000.00

NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
Number of personnel 274 257

274 257

5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Rent payments -697,642.13 -664,840.72
Purchased services -942,328.48 -925,025.11
ICT costs -1,279,518.24 -1,043,322.12
Marketing costs -565,500.98 -411,363.07
Other operating costs, group companies -1,190,504.51 0.00
Other operating expenses -2,906,430.86 -2,569,527.81

Total -7,581,925.20 -5,614,078.83

Auditors’ fees
Audit fees billed by PWC -123,319.49 -100,932.30
Consulting fees billed by PWC -13,478.33 -21,422.51
Tax consultancy by PWC 0.00 0.00

Total -136,797.82 -122,354.81

6. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2022 1 Jan – 31 Dec 2021

Write-downs on long term investments 0.00 0.00

Other interest income and financial income from 
group companies 0.00 42,495.97

Other interest income and financial income from 
non-group companies 365.90 6,394.46
Other interest expenses -542,649.56 -399,858.26

Total -542,283.66 -350,967.83

7. APPROPRIATIONS
Extra-ordinary costs

Intra-group contributions 1,200,000.00 700,000.00
Total 1,200,000.00 700,000.00

8. INCOME TAXES
Income taxes in the accounting period 0.00 -134,803.52
Income taxes from previous accounting periods 5,315.98 -12,555.06

Total 5,315.98 -147,358.58

Notes to Parent Company Financial Statements
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Notes to the balance sheet

2022
EUR

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Other intangible 

assets
Intangible  

rights Total

Acquisition cost at the start of the 
accounting period 3,164,720.11 385,000.00 3,549,720.11
Increases 1,395.97 1,395.97

Acquisition cost at the end of the ac-
counting period 3,166,116.08 385,000.00 3,551,116.08

Accumulated amortization and 
impairments at the start of the 
accounting period -2,119,893.01 -385,000.00 -2,504,893.01

Amortization during the accounting 
period -312,756.68 0.00 -312,756.68
Accumulated amortization at the end 
of the period -2,432,649.69 385,000.00 -2,817,649.69

Book value at the end of the period 733,466.39 0.00 733,466.39

10. TANGIBLE ASSETS
Machinery and 

equipment Total

Acquisition cost at the start of the 
accounting period 1,634,160.58 1,634,160.58
Increases 0.00 0.00

Acquisition cost at the end of the ac-
counting period 1,634,160.58 1,634,160.58

Accumulated depreciation and im-
pairments at the start of the account-
ing period -1,488,961.83 -1,488,961.83

Depreciation during the  
accounting period -62,579.02 -62,579.02

Accumulated depreciation at the end 
of the period -1,551,540.85 -1,551,540.85

Book value at the end of the period 82,619.73 82,619.73

11. INVESTMENTS
Other  
shares

Shares in  
subsidiaries Total

Acquisition cost at the start of the  
accounting period 30,133.15 24,612,858.06 24,642,991.21
Increases 52,016.13 2,222,113.13 2,274,129.26
Decreases -11,249.28 0.00 -11,249.28
Acquisition cost at the end of the  
accounting period 70,900.00 26,834,971.19 26,905,871.19

Accumulated depreciation and  
impairments at the start of the  
accounting period 0.00 -9,840,736.00 -9,840,736.00
Accumulated depreciation at the end of 
the period 0.00 0.00 0.00

Book value at the end of the period 70,900.00 16,994,235.19 17,065,135.19
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12. RECEIVABLES 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

INTER-COMPANY RECEIVABLES
Non-current

Loans receivable, non-current 0.00 1,447,113.13
Current

Accounts receivable 2,715,178.85 2,869,944.68
Current prepayments and accrued income 0.00 700,000.00

Current receivables in total 2,715,178.85 3,569,944.68

KEY PREPAYMENT AND ACCRUED INCOME ITEMS
Partial revenue recognition related income 118,430.67 182,549.08
License fee deferral 2,306,053.44 2,193,772.88
Production license 290,107.18 263,216.76
Production licenses, charged from customers 1,112,894.99 552,617.17
Deferred purchase invoices 774,658.68 591,841.86
Income tax receivable 0.00 174,567.27
Other prepayments and accrued income 59,006.00 8,184.00

Total 4,661,150.96 3,966,749,02

13. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Restricted shareholders’ equity:
Share capital at the start of the accounting period 94,821.20 94,821.20
Share capital at the end of the accounting period 94,821.20 94,821.20

Restricted shareholders’ equity in total 94,821.20 94,821.20

Unrestricted equity:

Invested unrestricted equity reserve at the start of the 
accounting period 19,372,348.40 19,372,348.40

Directed issue 124,740.00 0.00

Invested unrestricted equity reserve at the end of the 
accounting period 19,497,088.40 19,372,348.40

Retained profit at the start of the accounting period -3,152,491.69 -3,268,387.25

Directed issue 0.00 0.00
Purchase of own shares -46,781.59 -52,261.30
Retained profit at the end of the accounting period -3,199,273.28 -3,320,648.55
Profit for the accounting period -1,560,329.94 168,156.86

Unrestricted equity in total 14,737,485.18 16,219,856.71

Shareholders’ equity in total 14,832,306.38 16,314,677.91

Calculation of assets subject to profit distribution
Profit subject to profit distribution
Retained earnings -3,152,491.69 -3,268,387.25
Purchase of own shares -46,781.59 -52,261.30
Directed issue 0.00 0.00
Result for the period -1,560,329.94 168,156.86
Profit subject to profit distribution -4,759,603.22 -3,152,491.69

Other assets subject to profit distribution
Reserve for invested non-restricted equity 19,497,088.40 19,372,348.40
Other assets subject to profit distribution 19,497,088.40 19,372,348.40

Assets subject to profit distribution in total 14,737,485.18 16,219,856.71
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16. HOLDINGS IN OTHER UNDERTAKINGS

Name Domicile Ownership interest

Nixu Certification Oy Espoo, Finland 100%
Nixu B.V. Netherlands 100%
Nixu AB Sweden 100%
Nixu A/S Denmark 100%

Nixu Cybersecurity SRL Romania 4%

14. LIABILITIES 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans from financial institutions 3,699,263.51 2,690,000.00
Total 3,699,263.51 2,690,000.00
Other liabilities

Other current liabilities 1,435,823.14 1,465,554.24
Total 1,435,823.14 1,465,554.24

Material items included in accrued expenses

Advances received, partial revenue recognitions 0.00 0.00

Advances received, other 3,262,836.19 2,506,657.79

Annual leave pay, including statutory social securi-
ty contributions 2,569,416.81 2,523,835.15
Accrued payroll 971,474.90 375,140.67
Other accruals and deferred income 924,505.67 766,088.72

Total 7,728,233.57 6,171,722.33

15. COLLATERAL, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND OTHER 
COMMITMENTS	 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Leasing liabilities
Amounts payable for leasing contracts

Maturing within the next 12 months 568,937.44 644,077.86
Maturing in more than 12 months 662,845.01 555,006.26

Total 1,231,782.45 1,199,084.12

Other commitments
Rent liabilities 176,258.31 1,037,534.50
Mortgages 18,118,644.29 10,118,644.29
Deposits and pledged funds 210,578.80 210,578.80

Total 18,505,481.40 11 366 757,59

Business mortgages of Nixu Oyj and shares of Nixu Ab (100 pcs) and Nixu A/S (100 pcs) were used 
as collateral for Nixu Corporation’s 4.4 MEUR financial institution loan and 5.5 MEUR credit limit. At 
the end of the review period, the credit limit was in use in the amount of 981 KEUR.
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Signatures to the Financial Statements and Annual Report

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CEO

In Espoo 7 th of March 2023

Jari Niska	 Marko Kauppi 
Chairman of the Board 	 Vice Chairman of the Board

Kati Hagros	 Joakim Karske 
Member of the Board	 Member of the Board

Anders Silwer	  
Member of the Board 	

Teemu Salmi		   
CEO	

AUDITOR’S NOTE

Our auditors’ report has been issued today.

In Espoo 7 th of March 2023

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorized Public Accountants

Panu Vänskä 
Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Auditor’s Report 

To the Annual General Meeting of Nixu Oyj

Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion 

•	 the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the group’s financial position and financial perfor-
mance and cash flows in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
parent company’s financial performance and financial 
position in accordance with the laws and regulations gov-
erning the preparation of the financial statements in Fin-
land and comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Au-
dit Committee.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of Nixu Oyj (busi-
ness identity code 0721811-7) for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2022. The financial statements comprise:

•	 the consolidated statement of financial position, compre-
hensive income, cash flows, changes in equity and notes, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies

•	 the parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, 
statement of cash flows and notes.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with good auditing 
practice in Finland. Our responsibilities under good auditing 
practice are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the parent company and of the 
group companies in accordance with the ethical require-
ments that are applicable in Finland and are relevant to our 
audit, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, the non-audit ser-
vices that we have provided to the parent company and to 
the group companies are in accordance with the applica-
ble law and regulations in Finland and we have not provid-
ed non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5(1) 
of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. The non-audit services that 
we have provided are disclosed in note 2.4 to the Financial 
Statements.

Our Audit Approach

Overview

•	 Overall group materiality: EUR 420 thousand, which rep-
resents 0.7% of consolidated revenue

•	 Audit scope: We have audited Nixu Group companies 
(incl. parent company) that are most significant from 
the group’s financial position and result point of view. In 
addition, we have performed group level analytical and 
other audit procedures to assess unusual movements 
across other group companies.

•	 Revenue recognition

•	 Valuation of goodwill

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality 
and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the finan-
cial statements. In particular, we considered where manage-
ment made subjective judgements; for example, in respect 
of significant accounting estimates that involved making as-
sumptions and considering future events that are inherently 
uncertain.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application 
of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud 
or error. They are considered material if individually or in ag-
gregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined 
certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including 
the overall group materiality for the consolidated financial 
statements as set out in the table below. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the 
scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstate-
ments on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall group materiality  
EUR 420 thousand

How we determined it 
0.7% of revenue

Rationale for the materiality benchmark applied 
We chose revenue as the benchmark because, in our view, 
it is the benchmark against which the performance of the 
group is commonly measured by users, and is a generally 
accepted benchmark. We chose 0.7% which is within the 
range of acceptable quantitative materiality thresholds in 
auditing standards.

How we tailored our group audit scope

Nixu Group has operations in Finland, Sweden, Denmark, 
Netherlands and Romania. We tailored the scope of our au-
dit, taking into account the structure of the group, the ac-
counting processes and controls. 

We have audited Nixu Group companies (incl. parent com-
pany) that are most significant from the group’s financial 
position and result point of view. In addition, we have per-
formed group level analytical and other audit procedures to 
assess unusual movements across other group companies.

By performing the procedures above at legal entities, com-
bined with additional procedures at the Group level, we 
have obtained sufficient and appropriate evidence regard-
ing the financial information of the Group as a whole to pro-
vide a basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our profession-
al judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the             
financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were   addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of manage-
ment override of internal controls, including among other 
matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias 
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key audit matter in the audit of the group

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements for 
the related disclosures.

The Group’s revenue consists of 

- 	 projects and assignments

- 	 managed services

- 	 continuous services 

- 	 technology resale 

Due to materiality and judgment associated with the timing 
of revenue recognition we have considered revenue recog-
nition as key audit matter in the audit of the Group.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We obtained an understanding of the group’s revenue rec-
ognition process, evaluated the design and tested the oper-
ating effectiveness of certain internal controls over revenue 
recognition. 

Our audit procedures over revenue recognition included, 
among others: 

- 	 Assessment of the appropriateness of the Group’s         
accounting policy for revenue recognition;

- 	  Testing a sample of revenue translations and sales      
contracts; and

- 	 Assessment the appropriateness of the disclosures related 
to revenue recognition. 

Valuation of goodwill

Refer to note 4.2 to the consolidated financial statements for 
the related disclosures.

During the years Nixu Group has entered new markets through 
business acquisitions. As a result, the consolidated statement 
of financial position includes a significant amount of goodwill. 

Group management carries out impairment testing of good-
will at least annually. Impairment testing result is dependent 
on management estimates, e.g. expected short-and long 
term growth and profitability rates, discount rates and other. 

Due to materiality and judgment associated with the valua-
tion of goodwill we have considered it as key audit matter in 
the audit of the Group.  

We obtained an understanding of the group’s goodwill        
impairment testing process.

Our audit procedures over goodwill impairment testing          
included, among others,  

- 	 Evaluation of the methodology adopted by                 
management;

- 	 Testing the mathematical accuracy of the impairment 
testing model;

- 	 Assessment of the discount rates applied; 

- 	 Assessment of the other key assumptions; 

-    Validation of key inputs and data used in the impairment 
testing model including revenue growth and profitability 
assumptions; and

-    Assessment of the appropriateness of the disclosures 
related to impairment testing. 

We have no key audit matters to report with respect to our 
audit of the parent company financial statements.

There are no significant risks of material misstatement re-
ferred to in Article 10(2c) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 
with             respect to the consolidated financial statements 
or the      parent company financial statements.
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director for the Financial 
Statements

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are re-
sponsible for the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that give a true and fair view in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by 
the EU, and of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the laws and regulations governing 
the preparation of financial statements in Finland and com-
ply with statutory requirements. The Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the prepa-
ration of financial statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director are responsible for assessing the 
parent company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting. The financial statements are prepared using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention 
to liquidate the parent company or the group or to cease op-
erations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reason-
able assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-
antee that an audit conducted in accordance with good 
auditing practice will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-
nomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with good auditing prac-
tice, we exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-

sional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepre-
sentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are ap-
propriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the parent 
company’s or the group’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Di-
rectors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the parent company’s or the group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a ma-
terial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the parent company or the group to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events so that the financial statements 
give a true and fair view.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regard-
ing the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance re-
garding, among other matters, the planned scope and tim-
ing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a state-
ment that we have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where appli-
cable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.
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Other Reporting Requirements 

Appointment

Nixu Oyj became a public interest entity in 2 July 2018. We were first appointed as 
auditors by the annual general meeting on 5 July 1999 and our appointment rep-
resents a total period of uninterrupted engagement of 24 years. 

Other Information 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the other           
information. The other information comprises the report of the Board of Directors and 
the information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial        
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. With respect to the report of the Board of 
Directors, our responsibility also includes considering whether the report of the Board of 
Directors has been prepared in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

In our opinion

•	 the information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the infor-
mation in the financial statements

•	 the report of the Board of Directors has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Helsinki 7 March 2023

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorised Public Accountants

Panu Vänskä

Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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Independent Auditor’s Reasonable 
Assurance Report on Nixu Oyj’s ESEF 
Financial Statements

To the Management of Nixu Oyj

We have been engaged by the Management of Nixu Oyj 
(business identity code 0721811-7) (hereinafter also “the Com-
pany”) to perform a reasonable assurance engagement on 
the Company’s consolidated IFRS financial statements for the 
financial year 1 January – 31 December 2022 in European Sin-
gle Electronic Format (“ESEF financial statements”).

Management’s Responsibility for the ESEF 
Financial Statements 

The Management of Nixu Oyj is responsible for preparing 
the ESEF financial statements so that they comply with the 
requirements as specified in the Commission Delegated Reg-
ulation (EU) 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 (“ESEF require-
ments”). This responsibility includes the design, implemen-
tation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation of ESEF financial statements that are free from 
material noncompliance with the ESEF requirements, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Our Independence and Quality Control 

We have complied with the independence and other ethical 
requirements of the International Code of Ethics for Profession-
al Accountants (including International Independence Stan-
dards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants (IESBA Code), which is founded on fundamental 
principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence 
and due care, confidentiality and professional behavior.

Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 
and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quali-

ty control including documented policies and procedures re-
garding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 
standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

Our Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the ESEF financial 
statements based on the procedures we have performed 
and the evidence we have obtained. 

We conducted our reasonable assurance engagement in 
accordance with the International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements 
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Informa-
tion. That standard requires that we plan and perform this en-
gagement to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the ESEF financial statements are free from material noncom-
pliance with the ESEF requirements. 

A reasonable assurance engagement in accordance with 
ISAE 3000 (Revised) involves performing procedures to obtain 
evidence about the ESEF financial statements compliance 
with the ESEF requirements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material noncompliance of the ESEF financial state-
ments with the ESEF requirements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, we considered internal 
control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the ESEF 
financial statements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, Nixu Oyj’s ESEF financial statements for the fi-
nancial year ended 31 December 2022 comply, in all materi-
al respects, with the ESEF requirements. 

Our reasonable assurance report has been prepared in ac-
cordance with the terms of our engagement. We do not ac-
cept, or assume responsibility to anyone else, except for Nixu 
Oyj for our work, for this report, or for the opinion that we have 
formed.

Helsinki 7th of March, 2023

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy

Authorised Public Accountants

Panu Vänskä

Authorised Public Accountant (KHT)
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